# World Journal of *Cardiology*

World J Cardiol 2022 October 26; 14(10): 522-564





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

# W J C World Journal of Cardiology

#### Contents

Monthly Volume 14 Number 10 October 26, 2022

#### **MINIREVIEWS**

Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: A review of diagnostic methods and management strategies 522 Lionakis N, Briasoulis A, Zouganeli V, Dimopoulos S, Kalpakos D, Kourek C

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Retrospective Study**

Role of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers in cryoballoon 537 ablation outcomes for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation

Al-Seykal I, Bose A, Chevli PA, Hashmath Z, Sharma N, Mishra AK, Laidlaw D

#### SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

546 Virulent endocarditis due to Haemophilus parainfluenzae: A systematic review of the literature Olagunju A, Martinez J, Kenny D, Gideon P, Mookadam F, Unzek S

#### **LETTER TO THE EDITOR**

- Is Takotsubo cardiomyopathy still looking for its own nosological identity? 557 Scagliola R, Rosa GM
- 561 Euglycemic diabetic ketoacidosis: A rare but serious side effect of sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors

Lakušić N, Sopek Merkaš I, Slišković AM, Cerovec D



#### Contents

Monthly Volume 14 Number 10 October 26, 2022

#### **ABOUT COVER**

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Cardiology, Akshyaya Pradhan, MD, DM, FACC, FSCAI, FESC, FAPSIC, Professor (Jr), Department of Cardiology, King George's Medical University, Lucknow, Uttar Pradesh 226003, India. akshyaya33@gmail.com

#### **AIMS AND SCOPE**

The primary aim of World Journal of Cardiology (WJC, World J Cardiol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of cardiology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJC mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of cardiology and covering a wide range of topics including acute coronary syndromes, aneurysm, angina, arrhythmias, atherosclerosis, atrial fibrillation, cardiomyopathy, congenital heart disease, coronary artery disease, heart failure, hypertension, imaging, infection, myocardial infarction, pathology, peripheral vessels, public health, Raynaud's syndrome, stroke, thrombosis, and valvular disease.

#### **INDEXING/ABSTRACTING**

The WJC is now abstracted and indexed in Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2022 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2021 Journal Citation Indicator (JCI) for WJC as 0.35. The WJC's CiteScore for 2021 is 0.9, and Scopus CiteScore rank 2021: Cardiology and Cardiovascular Medicine is 260/336.

#### **RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE**

Production Editor: Hua-Ge Yu; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Yun-Xiaojiao Wu.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Cardiology	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1949-8462 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
December 31, 2009	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Ramdas G Pai, Dimitrios Tousoulis, Marco Matteo Ciccone, Pal Pacher	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
October 26, 2022	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WJC

# World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2022 October 26; 14(10): 522-536

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.522

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

### Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: A review of diagnostic methods and management strategies

Nikolaos Lionakis, Alexandros Briasoulis, Virginia Zouganeli, Stavros Dimopoulos, Dionisios Kalpakos, Christos Kourek

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Guo L, China; Shanmugasundaram M, United States

Received: August 10, 2022 Peer-review started: August 10, 2022 First decision: September 5, 2022 Revised: September 14, 2022 Accepted: October 5, 2022

Article in press: October 5, 2022 Published online: October 26, 2022



Nikolaos Lionakis, Dionisios Kalpakos, Christos Kourek, Department of Cardiology, 417 Army Share Fund Hospital of Athens (NIMTS), Athens 11521, Greece

Alexandros Briasoulis, Department of Clinical Therapeutics, Alexandra Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens 11528, Greece

Alexandros Briasoulis, Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Section of Heart Failure and Transplantation, University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, IA 52242, United States

Virginia Zouganeli, Second Cardiology Department, Attikon University Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens 12462, Greece

Stavros Dimopoulos, Christos Kourek, Clinical Ergospirometry, Exercise & Rehabilitation Laboratory, 1st Department of Critical Care Medicine, Evangelismos Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens 10676, Greece

Stavros Dimopoulos, Cardiac Surgery Intensive Care Unit, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, Athens 17674, Greece

Corresponding author: Stavros Dimopoulos, MD, PhD, Director, Cardiac Surgery Intensive Care Unit, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, 356 Sygrou Avenue Kallithea GR, Athens 17674, Greece. stdimop@gmail.com

#### Abstract

Spontaneous coronary artery dissection (SCAD) is a rare non-atherosclerotic cause of acute coronary syndromes defined as non-iatrogenic, non-traumatic separation of the coronary artery wall. The most common profile is a middle-aged woman between 44 and 53 years with few cardiovascular risk factors. SCAD is frequently linked with predisposing factors, such as postpartum, fibromuscular dysplasia or other vasculopathies, connective tissue disease and hormonal therapy, and it is often triggered by intense physical or emotional stress, sympathomimetic drugs, childbirth and activities increasing shear stress of the coronary artery walls. Patients with SCAD usually present at the emergency department with chest discomfort, chest pain, and rapid heartbeat or fluttery. During the last decades, the most common problem of SCAD was the lack of awareness about this condition which has led to significant underdiagnosis and misdiagnosis. However, modern imaging techniques such as optical coherence tomography, intravascular ultrasound, coronary angiography or magnetic resonance imaging



have contributed to the early diagnosis of the disease. Treatment of SCAD remains controversial, especially during the last years, where invasive techniques are being used more often and in more emergent cardiac syndromes. Although conservative treatment combining aspirin and betablocker remains the recommended strategy in most cases, revascularization could also be suggested as a method of treatment in specific indications, but with a higher risk of complications. The prognosis of SCAD is usually good and long-term mortality seems to be low in these patients. Follow-up should be performed on a regular basis.

Key Words: Spontaneous coronary artery dissection; Non-atherosclerotic coronary artery disease; Angiographic classification; Percutaneous coronary intervention

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Spontaneous coronary artery dissection (SCAD) is a non-atherosclerotic cause of acute coronary syndromes defined as non-iatrogenic, non-traumatic separation of the coronary artery wall. During the last decades, the most common problem in SCAD was the lack of awareness of the disease which led to significant underdiagnosis and misdiagnosis. However, modern imaging techniques such as optical coherence tomography, intravascular ultrasound, coronary angiography or magnetic resonance imaging have contributed to the early diagnosis of SCAD. Although conservative treatment combining aspirin and beta-blocker remains the recommended strategy in most cases, revascularization could also be suggested as a method of treatment in specific indications.

Citation: Lionakis N, Briasoulis A, Zouganeli V, Dimopoulos S, Kalpakos D, Kourek C. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: A review of diagnostic methods and management strategies. World J Cardiol 2022; 14(10): 522-536

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i10/522.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.522

#### INTRODUCTION

Spontaneous coronary artery dissection (SCAD) is a rare non-atherosclerotic cause of acute coronary syndromes (ACS) defined as non-iatrogenic, non-traumatic separation of the coronary artery wall[1]. It usually occurs in young and middle-aged women with few cardiovascular risk factors. Recent studies have shown SCAD to be the underlying cause of myocardial infarction (MI) in 22%-43% of women < 50 years and approximately 21%-27% of pregnancy-associated MI[2-4]. In Canada, SCAD was responsible for 24% of women < 50 years with MI[5] while in Japan this percentage was 35%[3]. In a French series, SCAD was reported in 36% of women under 60 years with ACS and one or few conventional cardiovascular risk factors[6]. Finally, a smaller Australian registry found a prevalence of SCAD of 23% in women under 60 years presenting with ACS[7].

During the last decades, the most common problem in SCAD is the lack of awareness about this condition among healthcare providers, despite the fact that the first case report of this syndrome was a female patient back in 1931[8]. This awareness led to significant underdiagnosis and misdiagnosis in cardiology departments. However, more and more cases are now being identified due to the increased awareness and earlier use of invasive angiographic methods in patients with acute chest pain presenting to emergency departments. Modern imaging techniques such as optical coherence tomography (OCT), coronary angiography or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) have also contributed to the early diagnosis of the disease. SCAD is not as rare as previously thought. It was supposed to be the main cause for 0.1% to 0.4% of all ACS but these percentages have increased up to 4% over the last years [2,9]. In sudden cardiac deaths, SCAD was reported in 0.5% of cases after autopsy<sup>[10]</sup>. It is frequently linked with predisposing factors, such as postpartum, fibromuscular dysplasia (FMD) or other vasculopathies, connective tissue disease and hormonal therapy, and it is often triggered by intense physical or emotional stress, sympathomimetic drugs (cocaine, amphetamines), childbirth and activities increasing the intra-abdominal and intra-thoracic pressure (coughing, retching, vomiting) and, thus, shear stress of the coronary artery walls[11].

Treatment of SCAD remains controversial, especially during the last years, where invasive techniques are being used more often and in more emergent cardiac syndromes. Conservative treatment combining aspirin and beta-blocker remains the recommended strategy in most cases. However, the high rate of technical complications in SCAD treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), has been shown to be associated with adverse clinical outcomes[12,13].



The aim of the present review was to demonstrate the existing knowledge regarding the diagnostic methods and the treatment strategies of the underdiagnosed syndrome of SCAD, and highlight the role of primary PCI.

#### EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENESIS OF SCAD

Although SCAD was primarily considered a disease of young adults, nowadays, the most usual patient is a middle-aged woman between 44 and 53 years with few cardiovascular risk factors[14,15]. There is evidence from a Canadian series that female patients with SCAD are older, with less isometric exercise and higher emotional stress compared to male patients[16]. Clinical presentation and outcomes of SCAD may be similar, not only in white patients, but also in other populations such as Hispanic Americans and Blacks<sup>[17]</sup>. The fact that most case reports include white patients could be explained by the fact that it may be underestimated in other populations or patients belonging in these populations may not present at the emergency department on time. Patients with SCAD usually have lower levels of hypertension, hyperlipidemia or tobacco use compared with patients who have atherosclerotic acute MI [18]. However, the prevalence of these factors is similar between different ages and sex[18]. Hypertension ranges from 32% to 37% while hyperlipidemia from 20% to 35% [14,15]. The prevalence of SCAD in patients presenting with ACS has risen up to 4% and is the underlying cause of up to 35% of all ACS cases in women  $\leq 50$  years[2,9].

Pregnancy has a strong association with SCAD. In pregnant women, where the percentage of SCADassociated MI is up to 27% [4,19], dissection may be a consequence of increased physiological hemodynamic stress or high progesterone levels, leading to weakening of the coronary arterial wall[20]. SCAD episodes are presented either antepartum or post-partum, and specifically, early post-partum (within the first 6 wk of childbirth), late post-partum (from 6 wk to 1 year), and very late post-partum (1 to 2 years)[20]. The most common period of an episode is the first week after childbirth[21]. Women with post-partum SCAD tend to be older at first childbirth and multigravidas compared to non-postpartum SCAD women[21]. Hemodynamic changes affecting cardiac parameters could lead to higher levels of shear stress and, as a result, vessels including the aorta and coronary arteries present structural alterations<sup>[22]</sup>.

Secondary iatrogenic dissection is also a major cause of additional risk in patients with already established SCAD undergoing invasive treatment. Increased risk of secondary iatrogenic dissections during coronary angiography (2%), non-SCAD angiography (0.2%) and PCI (14.3%) in SCAD patients has been previously observed in case series<sup>[23]</sup>.

There is still a gap in the literature regarding the understanding of the potential underlying mechanism of non-atherosclerotic SCAD. Two potential theories regarding the initiation of the coronary artery wall have been proposed. The first theory indicates sudden disruption of the coronary artery wall caused by an intimal tear [24,25]. Specifically, the intimal tear results in separation of the inner intimal lining from the outer vessel wall, allowing blood to enter into the false lumen and create an intramural hematoma within or between one of the three layers (intima, media, or adventitia)[24,26]. Pressuredriven expansion of the hematoma causes propagation of the dissection plane with formation of a true lumen, and a thrombus containing a false lumen. The second theory suggests spontaneous rupture and bleeding of the vasa vasorum within the vessel wall, followed by intramedial hemorrhage[24,25,27]. Intramural hematoma (IMH), which compresses the true lumen, causes ischemia of the myocardium, being thus, the primary cause of ACS with SCAD[1]. Occlusion of the lumen may also be worsened by thrombi in the true or false lumen having, however, a small pathophysiologic role compared to IMH [28].

SCAD may affect either normal vessels or vessels with weakened arterial wall architecture due to predisposing arteriopathies. As a result, dissection of the coronary artery walls could be extensive both anterograde and retrograde [1,29,30].

#### **RISK FACTORS**

This syndrome is mainly caused by a combination of factors including sex, hormonal fluctuations, underlying arteriopathies, genetics, and environmental, physical and emotional precipitants. As already mentioned above, pregnancy is a strong predisposing factor of SCAD in women[21]. However, a number of additional factors have been associated with the onset of SCAD in more than half of patients. Extreme physical or emotional stress is probably the most important predisposing factor. Triggering factors leading to a Valsalva-like increase in thoracoabdominal pressure or raising catecholamines, including cocaine exposure or sympathomimetic drugs, intense physical activity, coughing, retching, vomiting and bowel movement, in combination with underlying predisposing arteriopathies, can increase cardiocirculatory shear stress resulting in SCAD[11,15,31,32]. Specifically, emotional stressors seem to appear more often in women, whereas physical stressors have been reported in men among precipitants[16,29].



A significant risk factor of SCAD is FMD. The first case series of concomitant SCAD and extracoronary FMD was reported back in 2011[33]. Since then, high prevalence of FMD has been observed in 72% to 86% of SCAD patients who were routinely screened[11,34]. FMD is an idiopathic, nonatherosclerotic and noninflammatory systemic vasculopathy characterized by unique angiographic findings reflective of perturbations in the structure of the arterial wall leading to luminal stenosis, especially in small and medium-sized arteries[35]. Although the pathophysiology of FMD causing SCAD remains unknown, it is suggested that fibrosis of the vasa vasorum leads to coronary vessel wall ischemia and proliferation of myofibroblasts resulting in dissection[36]. Apart for stenoses, FMD has variable arterial manifestations including aneurysms and dissections. Multifocal FMD, characterized by multiple stenoses in an artery, is the most common type in adults, mainly affecting women. The difference between multifocal and focal FMD is that the first corresponds with medial fibroplasia, perimedial fibroplasia, and medial hyperplasia on histopathology while the second with adventitial and intimal disease[35,37]. A previous study[38] showed that the predominant arteries involved in FMD are renal (66.67%), iliac (44.44%), carotid (37.04%), and vertebral (33.33%). As a result, the prevalence of FMD may be even higher when screening is performed in patients with hypertension[38,39]. FMD and SCAD are directly associated, as prevalence of FMD among patients with SCAD is > 50%[40,41].

Long-term exposure to exogenous estrogen or progesterone has been shown to cause long-term changes in coronary arterial architecture, being thus, a significant risk factor for SCAD[11].

A relation between systemic inflammation and SCAD seems to exist[42]. Frequent chronic inflammatory systemic diseases including systemic lupus erythematosus, inflammatory bowel disease and sarcoidosis are suggested to have a potential relationship with SCAD[43-45]. A potential vasculitic inflammatory mechanism could be the activation of eosinophils from the adventitial and periadventitial layers a mechanism which leads to the establishment of SCAD[46]. There are data supporting this hypothesis which shows the presence of peri-arterial eosinophils in patients with SCAD compared to patients with iatrogenic or traumatic dissections where eosinophils are absent[47].

Specific connective tissue disorders such as Marfan and Ehler-Danlos type 4 syndromes also seem to have a relation with SCAD, with a reported frequency between 1% and 2%[11]. Some connective tissue disorders such as Marfan syndrome are associated with mutations in a single gene (FBN1), whereas others such as hypermobility type Ehlers-Danlos syndrome are thought to be multifactorial[48]. Defective fibrillin protein caused by mutations in the FBN1 gene causes structural and functional perturbation of connective tissues may predispose individuals to SCAD[49]. However, no specific connective tissue disorders or extracoronary vascular phenotypes in patients with SCAD have been observed[48]. A recent study[50] highlighted the role of extracellular matrix dysfunction in SCAD. Specifically, in this large cohort, across all patients with SCAD, rare disruptive variants were found within 10 collagen genes among individuals with SCAD compared with 2506 constrained genes expressed in the coronary artery<sup>[50]</sup>. Furthermore, patients with SCAD were 1.75-fold more likely to carry disruptive rare variants within fibrillar collagen genes[50]. Other collagen vascular disorders that have been proposed to be associated with SCAD are Alport syndrome and Nail-patella syndrome[51, 52].

Thyroid dysfunction could be another possible risk factor for SCAD. In hypothyroidism, the lack and impairment of thyroid hormones might lead to impairments in the structure of the artery wall, making coronary arteries more prone to SCAD[46]. In a previous study, investigators showed that the prevalence of hypothyroidism was significantly higher (26%) in patients with SCAD compared to patients with ACS<sup>[53]</sup>. In the same study, patients with both SCAD and hypothyroidism had more distal lesions and more tortuous coronary arteries. However, more data is required to support this finding.

Finally, the role of genetics in SCAD is a complex issue. Most recent studies have involved genetics as a predisposing factor in SCAD. SCAD has not been shown to be strongly familial, but it is more likely that cases within families are scattered and independent of specific genes. However, a recent study[54] highlighted the PHACTR1/EDN1 gene as directly associated with SCAD and other cardiovascular conditions such as coronary artery disease. The authors showed that patients who carried the rs9349379-A allele had an increased risk of FMD and SCAD[54]. This association requires further investigation.

#### **CLINICAL SYMPTOMS**

There is a wide spectrum of clinical presentation and severity of SCAD. Patients with SCAD usually present at the emergency department with chest discomfort as the most common symptom<sup>[55]</sup>, chest pain, and rapid heartbeat or fluttery. Less frequent symptoms include pain to the arms or neck, nausea or vomiting, unusual or extreme tiredness, shortness of breath and back pain[16]. A percentage between 24% and 87% of patients with SCAD demonstrate STEMI alterations in the ECG and elevation of cardiac enzymes[7,13,56,57]. A smaller percentage of patients, present complications such as ventricular arrhythmias (3% to 10%), cardiogenic shock (< 3%) and sudden cardiac death (< 1%)[11,13,30]. Another characteristic of SCAD is reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (EF) (< 50%), observed in almost 44%-49% of patients. However, there are usually significant improvements in the EF after treatment of



the arterial dissection[13,58]. In Canada, patients with SCAD expressed their chest pain either as radiation to the arm (approximately 50%) and/or neck (approximately 22%), dyspnea (approximately 19%) and pain in the back (approximately 12%) or as nausea and vomiting (approximately 23%) and hyperhidrosis (approximately 21%)[55]. However, in a minority of patients, chest pain could also be atypical[55].

#### DIAGNOSTIC METHODS AND ANGIOGRAPHIC CLASSIFICATION

Accuracy and early diagnosis are the most important factors for the management of SCAD. Coronary angiography is the gold standard and the first-line imaging technique for patients presenting with ACS. Administration of intracoronary nitrates, intracoronary imaging when safe and available, and/or follow-up noninvasive or invasive coronary imaging may be helpful in order to distinguish SCAD from other etiologies of ACS[18].

The main limitation of coronary angiography is that the 2-dimensional luminogram does not allow us to display the arterial wall[24,26]. As a result, further imaging techniques are required in order to set a definitive diagnosis. Intracoronary imaging, including OCT and intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) (Figure 1), is the supplementary method that improves SCAD diagnosis and has the possibility to display the arterial wall layers compared to coronary angiography[24,26]. Important disadvantages are that it is not widely available, it is often associated with additional risks and higher costs and, it requires instrumentation of the coronary artery, a situation which in SCAD could pose a challenge. Coronary computed tomography angiography has lower spatial resolution compared with conventional angiography and presents challenges in the evaluation of lumens and walls of small coronary arteries [9].

Optical coherence tomography, with an axial resolution of 15 µm, is a supplementary intracoronary imaging method for the diagnosis of SCAD that provides higher spatial resolution[40]. Despite this important advantage, OCT requires blood clearance using a high-pressure contrast injection, a situation that could lead to a further extension of the dissection, and particularly of the false lumen[59]. Nevertheless, the reduction of depth penetration, which is by definition limited in OCT, could lead to safe and accurate diagnosis[6,60]. OCT could also provide specialists with very significant information regarding the true lumen, characteristics related to the false lumen such as the type, size, and the point of extension, as well as its relation with side-branches[60]. In order to locate the characteristic crescentic shape of the false lumen, meticulous image analysis and evaluation are necessary. The practical usefulness of OCT in SCAD patients requiring coronary revascularization is to assure us, before any intervention, the location of the guidewire in the right lumen; thus, avoiding stenting of the false lumen that could cause hazardous complications[61,62].

IVUS, with an axial resolution of 150 µm, is also a supplementary method in SCAD diagnosis, and is able to differentiate atherosclerotic plaques from SCAD[27,59,63,64]. This method clearly illustrates and differentiates the two lumens and can show the severity of false lumen thrombosis. This technique readily depicts the true and the false coronary lumens and is also able to demonstrate the extent of false lumen thrombosis. IVUS presents great advantages over OCT. The major advantages are that pressurized contrast injection to clear blood from the lumen is not required and depth penetration is superior, enabling full imaging through the thrombus of the vessel wall up to the exterior elastic lamina [59]. The primary drawback of IVUS is its poor spatial resolution, making it difficult to identify small structures related to the disease, such as the intimal-medial membrane and localized fenestrations linking the two lumens[65,66].

MRI is another new diagnostic method for patients with SCAD. Specifically, MRI can diagnose SCAD when its underlying diagnosis cannot be initially recognized on angiography[67]. The characteristic findings of MRI in patients with SCAD are (1) late gadolinium enhancement which could be transmural, affected by myocardium, subendocardial, and with patchy enhancement; (2) microvascular obstruction; and (3) IMH[67,68]. Cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) imaging demonstrating delayed gadolinium enhancement in an area with suspected dissection could help in the confirmation of SCAD. However, normal CMR imaging may not exclude SCAD. A substantial minority of patients with angiographically-confirmed SCAD do not have CMR evidence of infarction[18,68].

An important key-point in the differential diagnosis of SCAD would be the discrimination between non-atherosclerotic SCAD and coronary artery dissection caused by atheromatic plaque rupture in patients with atherosclerosis or catheter-induced iatrogenic dissections. The absence of atheroma or calcification in patients with non-atherosclerotic SCAD causes more fragile arterial walls and it is difficult to limit the expansion of the dissection[24]. Therefore, patients in this category often present more extensive dissections, while non-affected coronary artery segments appear smooth on angiography[24]. A proposed diagnostic algorithm from our Institution is demonstrated in Figure 2.

The classification of SCAD is based on angiographic imaging techniques. There are 3 widely approved types of SCAD[7] (Figure 3): Type 1 describes the pathognomonic appearance of arterial wall contrast staining with multiple radiolucent lumens with or without dye hang-up or slow contrast clearing[30]. Type 2 describes diffuse smooth stenoses of varying severity and length (typically > 20

Raisbideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.522 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Intravascular imaging techniques in spontaneous coronary artery dissection. A: Optical coherence tomography, B: Intravascular ultrasound.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.522 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Flowchart diagram for the diagnosis of spontaneous coronary artery dissection. OCT: Optical coherence tomography; IVUS: Intravascular ultrasound; SCAD: Spontaneous coronary artery dissection.

> mm). It usually has abrupt changes in the arterial caliber from the normal diameter to diffuse smooth narrowing. The diffuse narrowing is bordered by normal artery segments proximally and distally to the IMH in type-2A variant, while it extends to the apical tip of the artery in type-2B variant[24]. Type 3 describes a focal or tubular (typically < 20 mm) stenosis mimicking atherosclerosis requiring supplementary techniques to diagnose IMH or double-lumen, such as OCT and IVUS[24].

> The most common angiographic type of SCAD is type 2, observed in approximately 67% of dissected arteries[7,11,40,69]. The left anterior descending artery is the most frequently affected (32%-46%)[7,11, 40,69].

#### THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES

One of the most controversary issues of modern cardiology is the management strategy of SCAD. There





DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.522 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.



are no randomized controlled trials to compare the effect of medical therapies and revascularization strategies in these patients in order to contribute to the determination of the optimal management of SCAD. It also remains unclear whether guideline-indicated medical therapies administered for ACS would be beneficial in SCAD[70]. Therefore, management strategies are usually based on expert opinions. There is a special category of patients with SCAD, often presenting with cardiogenic shock. Pregnancy-associated SCAD is associated with dissection of more prominent epicardial vessels, leading to extensive myocardial injury and life-threatening arrhythmias[21]. As a result, these patients typically present with ACS complicated by acute heart failure or cardiogenic shock[21]. The therapeutic approach in these patients may include immediate hemodynamic support with mechanical circulatory support, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, intra-aortic balloon pump (IABP), and left ventricular assist device (LVAD), in combination with revascularization or even cardiac transplantation[71,72]. Case reports have demonstrated beneficial effects of these therapeutic approaches in pregnant women with SCAD and cardiogenic shock[73].

#### Conservative management

The aim of conservative management in the acute phase of SCAD is to restore or preserve myocardial perfusion and cardiac function. Medical therapy includes beta-blockers and aspirin. The beneficial effect of beta-blockers in reducing shear stress of the coronary artery walls is associated with lower risk of recurrence, especially in patients with significant impairment of left ventricular systolic function [1,40]. Other medical therapies related to the reduction of arterial pressure and protection of the myocardium, such as angiotensin converting enzyme, angiotensin receptor blocker or mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist, are also indicated in SCAD[74,75].

The use of antiplatelets and anticoagulants, as well as the duration of treatment, remain controversial in SCAD. Patients who undergo stenting have an indication to receive dual antiplatelet therapy for 12 mo and lifelong monotherapy (usually aspirin) while acute dual antiplatelet therapy (usually with aspirin and clopidogrel) is suggested for patients managed conservatively[34,40,74,75]. The indication for acute administration of anticoagulants is only during revascularization while the indication for chronic use is in the case of left ventricular thrombus or thromboembolism[65]. However, all the above approaches remain questionable and further evidence is required.

The role of lipid-lower therapies is unclear and controversial. Statins could be recommended for routinely use after MI and in patients with pre-existing dyslipidemia[40,76]. SCAD is characterized by a general lack of atherosclerosis, and, therefore, statins may not be effective in patients with a normal lipidemic profile.

Thrombolysis is contraindicated in the acute management of SCAD as it might extend dissection and cause coronary rupture, leading to cardiac tamponade [77,78]. Adverse outcomes related to thrombolytics, including extension of dissection or hematoma, have been reported in SCAD[79].

#### Revascularization

Percutaneous coronary intervention is associated with poor success rates (50%-70%) due to the



increased risk of potential coronary complications including iatrogenic catheter-induced dissections, extension of dissections, and failure to enter into the true lumen[61,80]. Furthermore, there is an increased risk of proximal and/or distal false lumen propagation during stent deployment[44,81] and major side branch restriction or occlusion by propagation of the hematoma<sup>[59]</sup>. Secondary iatrogenic dissection is a major risk for patients undergoing invasive treatment. Increased risk of secondary iatrogenic dissections during coronary angiography (2%), non-SCAD angiography (0.2%) and PCI (14.3%) has been reported in SCAD patients[23]. Another study also demonstrated an increased percentage of secondary dissections related to catheterization maneuvers in patients with SCAD (5%) [12]. Taking all these factors into consideration, meticulous co-axial catheter technique and avoidance of aggressive catheterization maneuvers are suggested for patients with an indication for revascularization, while a conservative approach would be the preferred strategy in clinically stable SCAD patients with no evidence of ongoing ischemia[11,13]. Moreover, in SCAD patients, catheterization through femoral access would be preferable than radial access. Data have shown a 3-fold higher risk for catheter-induced iatrogenic dissection in patients with SCAD undergoing coronary angiography by radial access compared to femoral access[11,23].

There are specific indications for revascularization. Patients with hemodynamic instability, ongoing or recurrent ischemia, ventricular arrhythmias, or left main dissection should be considered for PCI[1, 9]. A necessary condition for PCI is the suitable anatomy of the coronary arteries. Meticulous catheter wire and guide-wire manipulation, avoidance of deep catheter engagement, noncoaxial positioning of the catheter tip, catheter dampening, and/or strong contrast injections are measures that should be implemented in order to minimize complications[13,82]. All medical procedures should be undertaken with extreme attention in order to prevent catheter-induced dissection. Less conventional interventional approaches include minimal plain old balloon angioplasty to restore flow[83], longer stents to lower the possibility of further extension of the hematoma[59], and other similar techniques[84-87].

Coronary artery by-pass grafting (CABG) could be considered for patients with left main dissections with ongoing ischemia, extensive dissections, in cases where PCI failed and in patients who are not anatomically suitable for PCI[1,59]. CABG as a treatment strategy for SCAD is usually associated with promising in-hospital outcomes[12]. However, there are no clinical trials to prove the beneficial effect of CABG compared to PCI. In contrast, retrospective studies have shown high rates of graft failure at follow-up[12]. There are only case reports suggesting CABG over PCI in peripartum SCAD in order to avoid complications or sudden cardiac death due to extension of the dissection and aneurysm formation [88]. Although CABG has not been shown to prevent recurrent SCAD[12], it still remains an important therapeutic strategy, providing coronary blood flow and myocardial perfusion in critically ill patients. Despite concern for inadequacy of distal targets in diffusely dissected vessels, successful graft anastomoses are usually achieved in every primary vessel and almost all secondary vessels in all patients treated with CABG during index hospitalization, including patients initially managed conservatively or with PCI[12]. A potential risk of CABG is the fact that dissected coronary artery tissues are profoundly fragile, unlikely to hold suture, and prone to anastomotic complications[18]. A medical history of connective tissue disorders may increase the risk. Another possible complication of CABG in patients with SCAD is the high rates of bypass conduit failure due to the fact that healing of the native coronary arteries results in increasing competitive flow [12,18]. There is still not enough evidence on whether arterial or venous grafting demonstrates better outcomes in patients with SCAD. Thus, the use of reliable and immediately high-flow venous conduits could be suggested, particularly in hemodynamically unstable patients with large territories of myocardium on ongoing ischemia[18].

A proposed management algorithm for SCAD is shown in Figure 4.

#### PROGNOSIS AND FOLLOW-UP

The prognosis of SCAD is usually good and patients surviving SCAD demonstrate low long-term mortality[11,12,13]. Specifically, 49.7% to 89.7% of patients with SCAD received medical therapy as initial treatment, and 2.6% to 8.5% of conservatively treated patients eventually required revascularization during the index hospitalization[11,12,13]. Revascularization with PCI is the initial treatment for SCAD in 16.7% to 47.1% of patients[11,12,13]. Reported PCI success rates vary from 36.4% to 72.5%, which is significantly lower than the success rates in control subjects with atherosclerotic ACS[11,12,13]. Emergency CABG is required in 2.2% to 7.4% of patients who initially received medical therapy or PCI. An initial CABG revascularization approach was used in 0.6% to 3.7%, and initial success was high in this small group of patients, ranging from 87.5% to 100% [11,12,13]. During a follow-up of 2 to 3 years, major adverse cardiac events related to recurrent SCAD were reported in 10% to 30% of cases[3,11,29, 40]. At longer-term follow-up, major adverse cardiac events predominantly related to recurrent SCAD were reported in 15% to 37% at 5 to 7 years, while the estimated rate of major adverse cardiac events was approximately 50% at 10 years[3,11-13,29]. Conservative therapeutic strategies including medical therapy have shown excellent long-term prognosis at 6 years with event-free survival rates between 88% and 94% [89]. Another case series in United States reported a 10-year survival of 92% [29]. Similarly, a case series in Italy reported a 94.4% 6-year survival<sup>[13]</sup> while, in Canada, mortality was estimated at





Figure 4 Proposed management algorithm for spontaneous coronary artery dissection. VF: Ventricular fibrillation; ACE: Angiotensin converting enzyme; ADP: Adenosine diphosphate; CABG: Coronary artery by-pass grafting; VT: Ventricular tachycardia; PCI: Percutaneous coronary intervention; LAD: Left anterior descending artery; LCx: Left circumflex coronary; RCA: Right coronary artery; SCAD: Spontaneous coronary artery dissection.

> 1.2% in 3.1 years[40]. Studies with a small number of SCAD patients, such as the Swiss series and the Japanese series, either did not demonstrate deaths in 63 patients at a median 4.5-year follow-up[56] or demonstrated a single death among 63 patients who were followed up for 34 mo[3], respectively. However, recurrent dissections and high rates of target vessel failure are significant factors that caused major adverse cardiac events ranging from 14.6% to 47.4% in SCAD patients who underwent PCI in the above case series[3,13,29,40]. SCAD recurrence was 17% in United States patients within a 4-year followup, approximately 29% within 10 years, and the period between the two events was at 2.8 years[29]. The corresponding percentage in the Canadian case series was 10.4% within 3.1 years, while the percentage of a new MI event was approximately 17% [40]. The Japanese series study showed recurrent SCAD of 11% after 1 mo from the first episode, during their 34-mo follow-up[3]. In the Swiss series study, 3 patients had recurrent SCAD out of 63 patients followed-up for a median of 4.5 years [56]. Finally, the Italian series study reported a 4.7% recurrence rate over a median 22-mo follow-up[13].

> Follow-up of SCAD patients should be performed every year with imaging methods including simple techniques such as echocardiography and cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, more complex techniques such as computed tomography-peripheral angiography or magnetic resonance-angiography, and invasive techniques such as coronary angiography [59]. Coronary computed tomography angiography was shown to be a valuable and useful method, without complications, for noninvasive follow-up of patients with SCAD, especially in those with large-caliber coronary arteries[57,90,91]. A significant limitation of coronary computed tomography angiography is the poor visualization of SCAD lesions in distal coronary arteries or side branches, or of vessel caliber < 2.5 mm[11,92]. For all patients, either treated conservatively or those who underwent PCI, a follow-up angiography in the catheter laboratory is suggested 6 mo after the event, in cases where coronary computed tomography angiography is not feasible or misdiagnosing. Repeat angiograms can be performed by the femoral or radial approach during a short hospital stay or on an ambulatory basis[93]. Patients should also have outpatient appointments at the referring hospital or with cardiologists in private practice twice within the first year of the event; typically, 1 to 3 mo and 12 mo after the event. Thereafter the appointments depend on the clinical status of each patient[93]. Other non-invasive follow-up techniques including cardiopulmonary exercise stress test and echocardiography should be conducted every year. In pregnancy, pregnant women with a medical history of SCAD should be referred to specialized medical centers for assessment, counseling for the potential increased risk of dissection and complications during pregnancy, and follow-up by a multidisciplinary team that includes maternal-fetal medicine specialists, cardiologists with experience managing SCAD, and obstetric anesthesiologists[83]. In patients with systemic arteriopathy, an extracoronary dissection or an aneurysm, subsequent use of alternative imaging methods that do not expose the patient to ionizing radiation such as magnetic



resonance angiography and duplex ultrasonography should be considered [94]. Major adverse cardiac events should be registered in all patients with SCAD at follow-up, especially in the first 5 years.

#### EXERCISE AND LIFESTYLE AFTER SCAD

In most SCAD patients, especially those with recurrence or noncoronary aneurysms or dissections, it is suggested thay they avoid extreme endurance training, exercise until exhaustion, elite competitive sports, or vigorous exertion in extremes of ambient temperature. Additionally, patients should avoid lifting or carrying heavy objects that require straining or prolonged Valsalva maneuvers[18]. The onset of SCAD symptoms has been correlated with physical activity in up to 32% of patients after SCAD[95]. After the onset of chest pain, patients should be immediately evaluated according to proposed algorithms in previous articles[18].

High levels of psychological distress including depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder are associated with post-SCAD patients, especially women. Psychological support is always recommended in patients with cardiovascular diseases[96].

#### CURRENT DEVELOPMENTS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The current progress in early recognition and appropriate therapeutic management of SCAD has improved the understanding of the pathophysiology background of the disease, its association with potential risk factors and the role of genetics. Diagnostic management includes high-resolution diagnostic methods such as OCT, IVUS, cardiac MRI and duplex ultrasonography. Progress has also been noted in the therapeutic strategies of the disease. Life-saving technologies, especially in patients with hemodynamic instability, including mechanical circulatory support systems, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, IABP, and LVADs, as well as new revascularization techniques and progress in cardiac transplantation have increased survival rates and reduced complications in these patients.

However, data remain retrospective, observational, and often based on case reports. Collaborative evaluations across medical centers are further required. National registries and continuous follow-up programs at 1, 3, 6 and 12 mo, with or without intravascular imaging, would provide more evidence for the disease, leading thus, to more comprehensive points of view regarding accurate diagnosis of SCAD among AMI and chest pain, appropriate indications and optimal techniques for revascularization, optimization of medical therapy, individualization of risk factors for recurrent SCAD and better development of genetic model systems for better understanding of genetic variations of SCAD. Invasive approaches with the use of bioresorbable vascular scaffolds should be encouraged in proximal/middle vessel lesions, occurring in larger vessels (> 3.0 mm vessel diameter) and in cases where patients are still symptomatic or hemodynamically unstable[97,98]. Finally, the establishment of new accurate scores for the diagnosis and therapeutic management of SCAD is mandatory.

#### CONCLUSION

SCAD is a rare cardiovascular disease which mostly affect women (approximately 90%), but there are limited data regarding diagnosis and treatment. The increased awareness of SCAD during the last decade has improved our knowledge regarding the potential mechanisms of the disease. Alertness and education are the most important alliances of the medical community in the early and accurate diagnosis of SCAD, especially among women, and its treatment strategies. Coronary angiography is the gold standard treatment method in unstable patients with symptoms of acute ischemia. OCT and IVUS are supplementary intracoronary imaging techniques in the diagnosis of SCAD, and they should be performed before each intervention in order to increase safety and reduce secondary iatrogenic dissections related to stenting. Further randomized controlled trials in medical centers, investigating different diagnostic methods and different therapeutic approaches, are required.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Kourek C performed the majority of the writing and prepared the figures; Lionakis N, Briasoulis A, Zouganeli V and Dimopoulos S provided the input in writing the paper; Lionakis N, Kourek C and Kalpakos D designed the outline and coordinated the writing of the paper; all authors revised and approved the final draft. Lionakis N and Kourek C contributed equally to this work.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.



Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Greece

ORCID number: Christos Kourek 0000-0003-4348-2153; Stavros Dimopoulos 0000-0003-2199-3788.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Webster JR P-Editor: Liu JH

#### REFERENCES

- Saw J, Mancini GBJ, Humphries KH. Contemporary Review on Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. J Am Coll 1 Cardiol 2016; 68: 297-312 [PMID: 27417009 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.05.034]
- Nishiguchi T, Tanaka A, Ozaki Y, Taruya A, Fukuda S, Taguchi H, Iwaguro T, Ueno S, Okumoto Y, Akasaka T. 2 Prevalence of spontaneous coronary artery dissection in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care 2016; 5: 263-270 [PMID: 24585938 DOI: 10.1177/2048872613504310]
- Nakashima T, Noguchi T, Haruta S, Yamamoto Y, Oshima S, Nakao K, Taniguchi Y, Yamaguchi J, Tsuchihashi K, Seki 3 A, Kawasaki T, Uchida T, Omura N, Kikuchi M, Kimura K, Ogawa H, Miyazaki S, Yasuda S. Prognostic impact of spontaneous coronary artery dissection in young female patients with acute myocardial infarction: A report from the Angina Pectoris-Myocardial Infarction Multicenter Investigators in Japan. Int J Cardiol 2016; 207: 341-348 [PMID: 26820364 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.01.188]
- Bush N, Nelson-Piercy C, Spark P, Kurinczuk JJ, Brocklehurst P, Knight M; UKOSS. Myocardial infarction in pregnancy and postpartum in the UK. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2013; 20: 12-20 [PMID: 22127355 DOI: 10.1177/1741826711432117]
- Saw J, Aymong E, Mancini GB, Sedlak T, Starovoytov A, Ricci D. Nonatherosclerotic coronary artery disease in young women. Can J Cardiol 2014; 30: 814-819 [PMID: 24726091 DOI: 10.1016/j.cjca.2014.01.011]
- Motreff P, Malcles G, Combaret N, Barber-Chamoux N, Bouajila S, Pereira B, Amonchot A, Citron B, Lusson JR, Eschalier R, Souteyrand G. How and when to suspect spontaneous coronary artery dissection: novel insights from a singlecentre series on prevalence and angiographic appearance. EuroIntervention 2017; 12: e2236-e2243 [PMID: 27973331 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-16-00187]
- Rashid HN, Wong DT, Wijesekera H, Gutman SJ, Shanmugam VB, Gulati R, Malaipan Y, Meredith IT, Psaltis PJ. 7 Incidence and characterisation of spontaneous coronary artery dissection as a cause of acute coronary syndrome--A singlecentre Australian experience. Int J Cardiol 2016; 202: 336-338 [PMID: 26426273 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.09.072]
- Pretty H. Dissecting aneurysm of coronary artery in a woman aged 42: rupture. BMJ 1931; 1: 667
- Gilhofer TS, Saw J. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: update 2019. Curr Opin Cardiol 2019; 34: 594-602 [PMID: 31567442 DOI: 10.1097/HCO.000000000000671]
- 10 Hill SF, Sheppard MN. Non-atherosclerotic coronary artery disease associated with sudden cardiac death. Heart 2010; 96: 1119-1125 [PMID: 20511306 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2009.185157]
- 11 Saw J, Aymong E, Sedlak T, Buller CE, Starovoytov A, Ricci D, Robinson S, Vuurmans T, Gao M, Humphries K, Mancini GB. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: association with predisposing arteriopathies and precipitating stressors and cardiovascular outcomes. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 7: 645-655 [PMID: 25294399 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.114.001760]
- 12 Tweet MS, Eleid MF, Best PJ, Lennon RJ, Lerman A, Rihal CS, Holmes DR Jr, Hayes SN, Gulati R. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: revascularization vs conservative therapy. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 7: 777-786 [PMID: 25406203 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.114.001659]
- Lettieri C, Zavalloni D, Rossini R, Morici N, Ettori F, Leonzi O, Latib A, Ferlini M, Trabattoni D, Colombo P, Galli M, 13 Tarantini G, Napodano M, Piccaluga E, Passamonti E, Sganzerla P, Ielasi A, Coccato M, Martinoni A, Musumeci G, Zanini R, Castiglioni B. Management and Long-Term Prognosis of Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. Am J Cardiol 2015; 116: 66-73 [PMID: 25937347 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.03.039]
- 14 Kok SN, Hayes SN, Cutrer FM, Raphael CE, Gulati R, Best PJM, Tweet MS. Prevalence and Clinical Factors of Migraine in Patients With Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. J Am Heart Assoc 2018; 7: e010140 [PMID: 30561271 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.118.010140
- 15 Saw J, Starovoytov A, Humphries K, Sheth T, So D, Minhas K, Brass N, Lavoie A, Bishop H, Lavi S, Pearce C, Renner S, Madan M, Welsh RC, Lutchmedial S, Vijayaraghavan R, Aymong E, Har B, Ibrahim R, Gornik HL, Ganesh S, Buller C, Matteau A, Martucci G, Ko D, Mancini GBJ. Canadian spontaneous coronary artery dissection cohort study: in-hospital and 30-day outcomes. Eur Heart J 2019; 40: 1188-1197 [PMID: 30698711 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz007]
- 16 Fahmy P, Prakash R, Starovoytov A, Boone R, Saw J. Pre-Disposing and Precipitating Factors in Men With Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2016; 9: 866-868 [PMID: 27101917 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.02.024
- Clare R, Duan L, Phan D, Moore N, Jorgensen M, Ichiuji A, Shen AY, Lee MS. Characteristics and Clinical Outcomes of 17 Patients With Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. J Am Heart Assoc 2019; 8: e012570 [PMID: 31084345 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.119.012570



- 18 Hayes SN, Tweet MS, Adlam D, Kim ESH, Gulati R, Price JE, Rose CH. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020; 76: 961-984 [PMID: 32819471 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.05.084]
- 19 Elkayam U, Jalnapurkar S, Barakkat MN, Khatri N, Kealey AJ, Mehra A, Roth A. Pregnancy-associated acute myocardial infarction: a review of contemporary experience in 150 cases between 2006 and 2011. Circulation 2014; 129: 1695-1702 [PMID: 24753549 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.002054]
- 20 Vijayaraghavan R, Verma S, Gupta N, Saw J. Pregnancy-related spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Circulation 2014; 130: 1915-1920 [PMID: 25403597 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.011422]
- 21 Tweet MS, Hayes SN, Codsi E, Gulati R, Rose CH, Best PJM. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection Associated With Pregnancy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 426-435 [PMID: 28728686 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.05.055]
- 22 Manalo-Estrella P, Barker AE. Histopathologic findings in human aortic media associated with pregnancy. Arch Pathol 1967; 83: 336-341 [PMID: 4225694]
- Prakash R, Starovoytov A, Heydari M, Mancini GB, Saw J. Catheter-Induced Iatrogenic Coronary Artery Dissection in 23 Patients With Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2016; 9: 1851-1853 [PMID: 27609262 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.06.026]
- 24 Saw J, Mancini GB, Humphries K, Fung A, Boone R, Starovoytov A, Aymong E. Angiographic appearance of spontaneous coronary artery dissection with intramural hematoma proven on intracoronary imaging. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2016; 87: E54-E61 [PMID: 26198289 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.26022]
- Alfonso F. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: new insights from the tip of the iceberg? Circulation 2012; 126: 667-25 670 [PMID: 22800852 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.122093]
- 26 Alfonso F, Bastante T. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: novel diagnostic insights from large series of patients. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 7: 638-641 [PMID: 25336602 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.114.001984]
- 27 Maehara A, Mintz GS, Castagna MT, Pichard AD, Satler LF, Waksman R, Suddath WO, Kent KM, Weissman NJ. Intravascular ultrasound assessment of spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Am J Cardiol 2002; 89: 466-468 [PMID: 11835932 DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9149(01)02272-x]
- Saw J. Pregnancy-Associated Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection Represents an Exceptionally High-Risk 28 Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection Cohort. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10 [PMID: 28302643 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.117.005119
- 29 Tweet MS, Hayes SN, Pitta SR, Simari RD, Lerman A, Lennon RJ, Gersh BJ, Khambatta S, Best PJ, Rihal CS, Gulati R. Clinical features, management, and prognosis of spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Circulation 2012; 126: 579-588 [PMID: 22800851 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.105718]
- 30 Gilhofer TS, Saw J. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: a review of complications and management strategies. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 2019; 17: 275-291 [PMID: 30957570 DOI: 10.1080/14779072.2019.1598261]
- 31 Tofler GH, Kopel E, Klempfner R, Eldar M, Buckley T, Goldenberg I; National Israel Survey of Acute Coronary Syndrome Investigators. Triggers and Timing of Acute Coronary Syndromes. Am J Cardiol 2017; 119: 1560-1565 [PMID: 28377021 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2017.02.022]
- Hart K, Patel S, Kovoor J. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection Associated with Anal Cancer Management with 32 Fluorouracil and Radiotherapy. Cureus 2019; 11: e4979 [PMID: 31467813 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.4979]
- 33 Saw J, Poulter R, Fung A, Wood D, Hamburger J, Buller CE. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection in patients with fibromuscular dysplasia: a case series. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2012; 5: 134-137 [PMID: 22338003 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.111.966630]
- Saw J, Ricci D, Starovoytov A, Fox R, Buller CE. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: prevalence of predisposing 34 conditions including fibromuscular dysplasia in a tertiary center cohort. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2013; 6: 44-52 [PMID: 23266235 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2012.08.017]
- 35 Gornik HL, Persu A, Adlam D, Aparicio LS, Azizi M, Boulanger M, Bruno RM, de Leeuw P, Fendrikova-Mahlay N, Froehlich J, Ganesh SK, Gray BH, Jamison C, Januszewicz A, Jeunemaitre X, Kadian-Dodov D, Kim ES, Kovacic JC, Mace P, Morganti A, Sharma A, Southerland AM, Touzé E, van der Niepen P, Wang J, Weinberg I, Wilson S, Olin JW, Plouin PF. First International Consensus on the diagnosis and management of fibromuscular dysplasia. Vasc Med 2019; 24: 164-189 [PMID: 30648921 DOI: 10.1177/1358863X18821816]
- Michelis KC, Olin JW, Kadian-Dodov D, d'Escamard V, Kovacic JC. Coronary artery manifestations of fibromuscular dysplasia. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014; 64: 1033-1046 [PMID: 25190240 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.07.014]
- 37 Olin JW, Gornik HL, Bacharach JM, Biller J, Fine LJ, Gray BH, Gray WA, Gupta R, Hamburg NM, Katzen BT, Lookstein RA, Lumsden AB, Newburger JW, Rundek T, Sperati CJ, Stanley JC; American Heart Association Council on Peripheral Vascular Disease; American Heart Association Council on Clinical Cardiology; American Heart Association Council on Cardiopulmonary, Critical Care, Perioperative and Resuscitation; American Heart Association Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young; American Heart Association Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention; American Heart Association Council on Epidemiology and Prevention; American Heart Association Council on Functional Genomics and Translational Biology; American Heart Association Council for High Blood Pressure Research; American Heart Association Council on the Kidney in Cardiovascular Disease; American Heart Association Stroke Council. Fibromuscular dysplasia: state of the science and critical unanswered questions: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2014; 129: 1048-1078 [PMID: 24548843 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.0000442577.96802.8c]
- 38 Alam M, Akah O, Khan T, Zarrar R. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection in Patients With Fibromuscular Dysplasia. Cureus 2021; 13: e13696 [PMID: 33824836 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.13696]
- Kim ESH, Saw J, Kadian-Dodov D, Wood M, Ganesh SK. FMD and SCAD: Sex-Biased Arterial Diseases With Clinical 39 and Genetic Pleiotropy. Circ Res 2021; 128: 1958-1972 [PMID: 34110898 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.318300]
- 40 Saw J, Humphries K, Aymong E, Sedlak T, Prakash R, Starovoytov A, Mancini GBJ. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection: Clinical Outcomes and Risk of Recurrence. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 1148-1158 [PMID: 28838364 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.06.053
- Prasad M, Tweet MS, Hayes SN, Leng S, Liang JJ, Eleid MF, Gulati R, Vrtiska TJ. Prevalence of extracoronary vascular 41 abnormalities and fibromuscular dysplasia in patients with spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Am J Cardiol 2015;



115: 1672-1677 [PMID: 25929580 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.03.011]

- 42 Kamran M, Guptan A, Bogal M. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: case series and review. J Invasive Cardiol 2008; 20: 553-559 [PMID: 18830003]
- Reddy S, Vaid T, Ganiga Sanjeeva NC, Shetty RK. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection as the first presentation of 43 systemic lupus erythematosus. BMJ Case Rep 2016; 2016 [PMID: 27558190 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2016-216344]
- 44 Kanaroglou S, Nair V, Fernandes JR. Sudden cardiac death due to coronary artery dissection as a complication of cardiac sarcoidosis. Cardiovasc Pathol 2015; 24: 244-246 [PMID: 25638512 DOI: 10.1016/j.carpath.2015.01.001]
- Srinivas M, Basumani P, Muthusamy R, Wheeldon N. Active inflammatory bowel disease and coronary artery dissection. 45 Postgrad Med J 2005; 81: 68-70 [PMID: 15640436 DOI: 10.1136/pgmj.2004.018952]
- Garcia-Guimarães M, Bastante T, Antuña P, Jimenez C, de la Cuerda F, Cuesta J, Rivero F, Premawardhana D, Adlam D, 46 Alfonso F. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection: Mechanisms, Diagnosis and Management. Eur Cardiol 2020; 15: 1-8 [PMID: 32256714 DOI: 10.15420/ecr.2019.01]
- 47 Pitliya A, Datta S, Kalayci A, Kahe F, Sharfaei S, Jafarizade M, Goudarzi S, Chi G. Eosinophilic inflammation in spontaneous coronary artery dissection: A potential therapeutic target? Med Hypotheses 2018; 121: 91-94 [PMID: 30396503 DOI: 10.1016/j.mehy.2018.09.039]
- 48 Henkin S, Negrotto SM, Tweet MS, Kirmani S, Deyle DR, Gulati R, Olson TM, Hayes SN. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection and its association with heritable connective tissue disorders. Heart 2016; 102: 876-881 [PMID: 26864667 DOI: 10.1136/heartjnl-2015-308645]
- Becker AE, van Mantgem JP. The coronary arteries in Marfan's syndrome. A morphologic study. Am J Cardiol 1975; 36: 315-321 [PMID: 126642 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9149(75)90482-8]
- 50 Zekavat SM, Chou EL, Zekavat M, Pampana A, Paruchuri K, Lino Cardenas CL, Koyama S, Ghazzawi Y, Kii E, Uddin MM, Pirruccello J, Zhao H, Wood M, Natarajan P, Lindsay ME. Fibrillar Collagen Variants in Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. JAMA Cardiol 2022; 7: 396-406 [PMID: 35234813 DOI: 10.1001/jamacardio.2022.0001]
- Anuwatworn A, Sethi P, Steffen K, Jonsson O, Petrasko M. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection: A Rare 51 Manifestation of Alport Syndrome. Case Rep Cardiol 2017; 2017: 1705927 [PMID: 28884028 DOI: 10.1155/2017/17059271
- 52 Nizamuddin SL, Broderick DK, Minehart RD, Kamdar BB, Spontaneous coronary artery dissection in a parturient with Nail-Patella syndrome. Int J Obstet Anesth 2015; 24: 69-73 [PMID: 25433575 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijoa.2014.07.010]
- 53 Camacho Freire SJ, Díaz Fernández JF, Gheorghe LL, Gómez Menchero AE, León Jiménez J, Roa Garrido J, Cardenal Piris R, Pedregal González M, Bastante T, García Guimaraes M, Vera A, Cuesta J, Rivero F, Alfonso F. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection and Hypothyroidism. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed) 2019; 72: 625-633 [PMID: 30097393 DOI: 10.1016/j.rec.2018.06.031]
- 54 Adlam D, Olson TM, Combaret N, Kovacic JC, Iismaa SE, Al-Hussaini A, O'Byrne MM, Bouajila S, Georges A, Mishra K, Braund PS, d'Escamard V, Huang S, Margaritis M, Nelson CP, de Andrade M, Kadian-Dodov D, Welch CA, Mazurkiewicz S, Jeunemaitre X; DISCO Consortium, Wong CMY, Giannoulatou E, Sweeting M, Muller D, Wood A, McGrath-Cadell L, Fatkin D, Dunwoodie SL, Harvey R, Holloway C, Empana JP, Jouven X; CARDIoGRAMPlusC4D Study Group, Olin JW, Gulati R, Tweet MS, Hayes SN, Samani NJ, Graham RM, Motreff P, Bouatia-Naji N. Association of the PHACTR1/EDN1 Genetic Locus With Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019; 73: 58-66 [PMID: 30621952 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.09.085]
- 55 Luong C, Starovoytov A, Heydari M, Sedlak T, Aymong E, Saw J. Clinical presentation of patients with spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 89: 1149-1154 [PMID: 28244197 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.26977]
- Rogowski S, Maeder MT, Weilenmann D, Haager PK, Ammann P, Rohner F, Joerg L, Rickli H. Spontaneous Coronary 56 Artery Dissection: Angiographic Follow-Up and Long-Term Clinical Outcome in a Predominantly Medically Treated Population. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 89: 59-68 [PMID: 26708825 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.26383]
- 57 Roura G, Ariza-Solé A, Rodriguez-Caballero IF, Gomez-Lara J, Ferreiro JL, Romaguera R, Teruel L, de Albert M, Gomez-Hospital JA, Cequier A. Noninvasive Follow-Up of Patients With Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection With CT Angiography. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2016; 9: 896-897 [PMID: 26476501 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2015.06.011]
- Franco C, Starovoytov A, Heydari M, Mancini GB, Aymong E, Saw J. Changes in left ventricular function after 58 spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Clin Cardiol 2017; 40: 149-154 [PMID: 28218398 DOI: 10.1002/clc.22640]
- Adlam D, Alfonso F, Maas A, Vrints C; Writing Committee. European Society of Cardiology, acute cardiovascular care 59 association, SCAD study group: a position paper on spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Eur Heart J 2018; 39: 3353-3368 [PMID: 29481627 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy080]
- 60 Alfonso F, Paulo M, Gonzalo N, Dutary J, Jimenez-Quevedo P, Lennie V, Escaned J, Bañuelos C, Hernandez R, Macaya C. Diagnosis of spontaneous coronary artery dissection by optical coherence tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012; 59: 1073-1079 [PMID: 22421300 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.08.082]
- Mori H, Kutys R, Romero M, Virmani R, Finn AV. Stenting of Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection From a 61 Pathological Point of View. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2016; 9 [PMID: 27895071 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.116.004549]
- Combaret N, Souteyrand G, Amonchot A, Coupez E, Motreff P. Contribution of guidance by optical coherence 62 tomography (OCT) in rescue management of spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2013; 14: 714 [PMID: 23384755 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jet015]
- Paulo M, Sandoval J, Lennie V, Dutary J, Medina M, Gonzalo N, Jimenez-Quevedo P, Escaned J, Bañuelos C, Hernandez 63 R, Macaya C, Alfonso F. Combined use of OCT and IVUS in spontaneous coronary artery dissection. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2013; 6: 830-832 [PMID: 23747066 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2013.02.010]
- Auer J, Punzengruber C, Berent R, Weber T, Lamm G, Hartl P, Eber B. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection involving the left main stem: assessment by intravascular ultrasound. Heart 2004; 90: e39 [PMID: 15201265 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2004.035659
- 65 Al-Hussaini A, Adlam D. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Heart 2017; 103: 1043-1051 [PMID: 28363899 DOI: 10.1136/heartinl-2016-310320]



- 66 Macaya F, Salinas P, Gonzalo N, Fernández-Ortiz A, Macaya C, Escaned J. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: contemporary aspects of diagnosis and patient management. Open Heart 2018; 5: e000884 [PMID: 30487978 DOI: 10.1136/openhrt-2018-000884]
- 67 Chandrasekhar J, Thakkar J, Starovoytov A, Mayo J, Saw J. Characteristics of spontaneous coronary artery dissection on cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther 2020; 10: 636-638 [PMID: 32695643 DOI: 10.21037/cdt.2020.02.01]
- Tan NY, Hayes SN, Young PM, Gulati R, Tweet MS. Usefulness of Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Patients With Acute Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. Am J Cardiol 2018; 122: 1624-1629 [PMID: 30220414 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2018.07.043]
- Alfonso F, Paulo M, Dutary J. Endovascular imaging of angiographically invisible spontaneous coronary artery dissection. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2012; 5: 452-453 [PMID: 22516405 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2012.01.016]
- Mehta LS, Beckie TM, DeVon HA, Grines CL, Krumholz HM, Johnson MN, Lindley KJ, Vaccarino V, Wang TY, Watson 70 KE, Wenger NK; American Heart Association Cardiovascular Disease in Women and Special Populations Committee of the Council on Clinical Cardiology, Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing, and Council on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research. Acute Myocardial Infarction in Women: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2016; 133: 916-947 [PMID: 26811316 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000351]
- Patel A, Asopa S, Tang AT, Ohri SK. Cardiac surgery during pregnancy. Tex Heart Inst J 2008; 35: 307-312 [PMID: 71 189416091
- 72 Scott NS. Management of cardiovascular disease during pregnancy. US Cardiol Rev 2018; 12: 119-123 [DOI: 10.15420/usc.2018.8.1]
- Wingerter KE, O'Dell KR, Anglim AJ, Bailey AL. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection with cardiogenic shock in the 73 third trimester, and a successful early-term delivery: a case report. Eur Heart J Case Rep 2021; 5: ytab080 [PMID: 33733048 DOI: 10.1093/ehjcr/ytab080]
- 74 Roffi M, Patrono C, Collet JP, Mueller C, Valgimigli M, Andreotti F, Bax JJ, Borger MA, Brotons C, Chew DP, Gencer B, Hasenfuss G, Kjeldsen K, Lancellotti P, Landmesser U, Mehilli J, Mukherjee D, Storey RF, Windecker S; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation: Task Force for the Management of Acute Coronary Syndromes in Patients Presenting without Persistent ST-Segment Elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2016; 37: 267-315 [PMID: 26320110 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv320]
- 75 Ibánez B, James S, Agewall S, Antunes MJ, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Bueno H, Caforio ALP, Crea F, Goudevenos JA, Halvorsen S, Hindricks G, Kastrati A, Lenzen MJ, Prescott E, Roffi M, Valgimigli M, Varenhorst C, Vranckx P, Widimský P. 2017 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed) 2017; 70: 1082 [PMID: 29198432 DOI: 10.1016/j.rec.2017.11.010]
- Amsterdam EA, Wenger NK, Brindis RG, Casey DE Jr, Ganiats TG, Holmes DR Jr, Jaffe AS, Jneid H, Kelly RF, Kontos MC, Levine GN, Liebson PR, Mukherjee D, Peterson ED, Sabatine MS, Smalling RW, Zieman SJ. 2014 AHA/ACC Guideline for the Management of Patients with Non-ST-Elevation Acute Coronary Syndromes: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014; 64: e139e228 [PMID: 25260718 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.09.017]
- 77 Zupan I, Noc M, Trinkaus D, Popovic M. Double vessel extension of spontaneous left main coronary artery dissection in young women treated with thrombolytics. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2001; 52: 226-230 [PMID: 11170335 DOI: 10.1002/1522-726x(200102)52:2<226::aid-ccd1054>3.0.co;2-r]
- 78 Andreou AY, Georgiou PA, Georgiou GM. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: Report of two unsuspected cases initially treated with thrombolysis. Exp Clin Cardiol 2009; 14: e89-e92 [PMID: 20198198]
- 79 Shamloo BK, Chintala RS, Nasur A, Ghazvini M, Shariat P, Diggs JA, Singh SN. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: aggressive vs. conservative therapy. J Invasive Cardiol 2010; 22: 222-228 [PMID: 20440039]
- 80 Bento AP, Fernandes RG, Neves DC, Patrício LM, de Aguiar JE. Spontaneous Coronary Dissection: "Live Flash" Optical Coherence Tomography Guided Angioplasty. Case Rep Cardiol 2016; 2016: 5643819 [PMID: 26989520 DOI: 10.1155/2016/5643819
- Mortensen KH, Thuesen L, Kristensen IB, Christiansen EH. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: a Western Denmark 81 Heart Registry study. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2009; 74: 710-717 [PMID: 19496145 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.22115]
- 82 Hayes SN, Kim ESH, Saw J, Adlam D, Arslanian-Engoren C, Economy KE, Ganesh SK, Gulati R, Lindsay ME, Mieres JH, Naderi S, Shah S, Thaler DE, Tweet MS, Wood MJ; American Heart Association Council on Peripheral Vascular Disease; Council on Clinical Cardiology; Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing; Council on Genomic and Precision Medicine; and Stroke Council. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection: Current State of the Science: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2018; 137: e523-e557 [PMID: 29472380 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000564]
- 83 Arrivi A, Milici C, Bock C, Placanica A, Boschetti E, Dominici M. Idiopathic, serial coronary vessels dissection in a young woman with psychological stress: a case report and review of the literature. Case Rep Vasc Med 2012; 2012: 498465 [PMID: 23133786 DOI: 10.1155/2012/498465]
- 84 Dashwood AM, Saw J, Dhillon P, Murdoch D. Use of a Three-Stent Technique for a Case of Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. Can J Cardiol 2017; 33: 830.e13-830.e15 [PMID: 28461002 DOI: 10.1016/j.cjca.2017.02.007]
- 85 Alfonso F, Bastante T, García-Guimaraes M, Pozo E, Cuesta J, Rivero F, Benedicto A, Antuña P, Alvarado T, Gulati R, Saw J. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: new insights into diagnosis and treatment. Coron Artery Dis 2016; 27: 696-706 [PMID: 27404579 DOI: 10.1097/MCA.00000000000412]
- 86 Ito T, Shintani Y, Ichihashi T, Fujita H, Ohte N. Non-atherosclerotic spontaneous coronary artery dissection revascularized by intravascular ultrasonography-guided fenestration with cutting balloon angioplasty. Cardiovasc Interv Ther 2017; 32: 241-243 [PMID: 27142197 DOI: 10.1007/s12928-016-0397-x]
- Watt J, Egred M, Khurana A, Bagnall AJ, Zaman AG. 1-Year Follow-Up Optical Frequency Domain Imaging of Multiple 87



Bioresorbable Vascular Scaffolds for the Treatment of Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2016; 9: 389-391 [PMID: 26892086 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.11.030]

- 88 Moghadam R, Rahman T, Reiss CK. Complicated Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection (SCAD) Culminating in Aneurysm Formation: Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery Is Preferable Over Percutaneous Coronary Intervention in Peripartum SCAD. Cureus 2021; 13: e14145 [PMID: 33927947 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.14145]
- 89 Alfonso F, Paulo M, Lennie V, Dutary J, Bernardo E, Jiménez-Quevedo P, Gonzalo N, Escaned J, Bañuelos C, Pérez-Vizcayno MJ, Hernández R, Macaya C. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: long-term follow-up of a large series of patients prospectively managed with a "conservative" therapeutic strategy. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2012; 5: 1062-1070 [PMID: 23078737 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2012.06.014]
- 90 Tweet MS, Gulati R, Williamson EE, Vrtiska TJ, Hayes SN. Multimodality Imaging for Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection in Women. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2016; 9: 436-450 [PMID: 27056163 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2016.01.009]
- 91 Guo LQ, Wasfy MM, Hedgire S, Kalra M, Wood M, Prabhakar AM, Ghoshhajra BB. Multimodality imaging of spontaneous coronary artery dissection: case studies of the Massachusetts General Hospital. Coron Artery Dis 2016; 27: 70-71 [PMID: 26554663 DOI: 10.1097/MCA.00000000000320]
- Saw J. Coronary angiogram classification of spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 84: 92 1115-1122 [PMID: 24227590 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.25293]
- 93 Seidl S, Rickli H, Rogowski S, Weilenmann D, Ammann P, Haager PK, Joerg L, Rohner F, Chronis J, Rigger J, Maeder MT. Long-term follow-up of medically treated patients with spontaneous coronary artery dissection: a prospective, Swiss single-centre cohort study. Swiss Med Wkly 2021; 151: w30067 [PMID: 34964588 DOI: 10.4414/smw.2021.w30067]
- 94 Kadian-Dodov D, Gornik HL, Gu X, Froehlich J, Bacharach JM, Chi YW, Gray BH, Jaff MR, Kim ES, Mace P, Sharma A, Kline-Rogers E, White C, Olin JW. Dissection and Aneurysm in Patients With Fibromuscular Dysplasia: Findings From the U.S. Registry for FMD. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016; 68: 176-185 [PMID: 27386771 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.04.044]
- Wagers TP, Stevens CJ, Ross KV, Leon KK, Masters KS. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection (SCAD): FEMALE 95 SURVIVORS' EXPERIENCES OF STRESS AND SUPPORT. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev 2018; 38: 374-379 [PMID: 29939880 DOI: 10.1097/HCR.00000000000330]
- Johnson AK, Hayes SN, Sawchuk C, Johnson MP, Best PJ, Gulati R, Tweet MS. Analysis of Posttraumatic Stress 96 Disorder, Depression, Anxiety, and Resiliency Within the Unique Population of Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection Survivors. J Am Heart Assoc 2020; 9: e014372 [PMID: 32342736 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.119.014372]
- 97 Buccheri D, Piraino D, Latini RA, Andolina G, Cortese B. Spontaneous coronary artery dissections: A call for action for an underestimated entity. Int J Cardiol 2016; 214: 333-335 [PMID: 27085122 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.03.131]
- 98 Panoulas VF, Ielasi A. Bioresorbable scaffolds and drug-eluting balloons for the management of spontaneous coronary artery dissections. J Thorac Dis 2016; 8: E1328-E1330 [PMID: 27867618 DOI: 10.21037/jtd.2016.10.54]



WJC

# World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2022 October 26; 14(10): 537-545

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.537

**Retrospective Study** 

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# Role of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers in cryoballoon ablation outcomes for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation

Ibragim Al-Seykal, Abhishek Bose, Parag A Chevli, Zeba Hashmath, Nitish Sharma, Ajay K Mishra, Douglas Laidlaw

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Barve P, United States; Karim HMR, India

Received: May 29, 2022 Peer-review started: May 29, 2022 First decision: June 8, 2022 Revised: June 18, 2022 Accepted: September 6, 2022 Article in press: September 6, 2022 Published online: October 26, 2022



Ibragim Al-Seykal, Nitish Sharma, Ajay K Mishra, Douglas Laidlaw, Department of Medicine, Division of Cardiology, Saint Vincent Hospital, Worcester, MA 01608, United States

Abhishek Bose, Department of Medicine, Division of Cardiology, University of Massachusetts Chan School of Medicine, Worcester, MA 01608, United States

Parag A Chevli, Section on Hospital Medicine, Department of Medicine, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC 27101, United States

Zeba Hashmath, Department of Medicine, Division of Cardiology, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC 27858, United States

Corresponding author: Ajay K Mishra, FACP, MBBS, MD, Academic Fellow, Assistant Professor, Department of Medicine, Division of Cardiology, Saint Vincent Hospital, 123 Summer Street, Worcester, MA 01608, United States. ajay.mishra@stvincenthospital.com

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Cryoballoon ablation (CBA) is recommended for patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (AF) refractory to antiarrhythmic drugs. However, only 80% of patients benefit from initial CBA. There is growing evidence that pretreatment with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) decreases the recurrence of AF postablation, particularly in nonparoxysmal AF undergoing radiofrequency ablation. The role of ACEIs and ARBs in patients with paroxysmal AF in CBA remains unknown. We decided to investigate the role of ACEIs and ARBs in preventing the recurrence of atrial arrhythmia (AA) following CBA for paroxysmal AF.

#### AIM

To investigate the role of ACEIs and ARBs in preventing recurrence of AA following CBA for paroxysmal AF.

#### **METHODS**

We followed 103 patients (age 60.6 ± 9.1 years, 29% women) with paroxysmal AF undergoing CBA 1-year post procedure. Recurrence was assessed by documented



AA on electrocardiogram or any form of long-term cardiac rhythm monitoring. A multivariable Cox proportional hazard model was used to assess if ACEI or ARB treatment predicted the risk of AA recurrence.

#### RESULTS

After a 1-year follow-up, 19 (18.4%) participants developed recurrence of AA. Use of ACEI or ARB therapy was noted in the study population. Patients on ACEI/ARB had a greater prevalence of hypertension and coronary artery disease. On a multivariate model adjusted for baseline demographics and risk factors for AF, ACEI or ARB therapy did not prevent recurrence of AA following CBA (P = 0.72). Similarly, on Kaplan-Meier analysis pretreatment with ACEI/ARB did not predict the time to first recurrence of AA (P = 0.2173).

#### **CONCLUSION**

In our study population, preablation treatment with an ACEI or ARB had no influence on the recurrence of AA following CBA for paroxysmal AF.

Key Words: Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors; Angiotensin receptor blockers; Paroxysmal atrial fibrillation; Cryoballoon ablation; Outcome

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: We investigated the role of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) in preventing recurrence of atrial arrhythmias following cryoballoon ablation (CBA) for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (AF). Outcomes of 103 patients were evaluated in a retrospective chart review. Preablation treatment with an ACEI or ARB had no influence on recurrence of AA following CBA for paroxysmal AF. To our knowledge, this study is the first of its kind to examine the effect of ACEI/ARB use in this exclusive subset of patients.

Citation: Al-Seykal I, Bose A, Chevli PA, Hashmath Z, Sharma N, Mishra AK, Laidlaw D. Role of angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers in cryoballoon ablation outcomes for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. World J Cardiol 2022; 14(10): 537-545

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i10/537.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.537

#### INTRODUCTION

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is a common arrhythmia that represents an evolving, global epidemic[1]. It is estimated that the number of Americans afflicted by AF will increase from the current 2.3 million to more than 10 million by 2050[2]. Due to a substantial increase in incidence and prevalence of AF over the past few decades, it presents a significant economic burden on the health care system[3]. In 2014, in the United States alone, an estimated 599790 emergency department visits, 453060 hospitalizations, and 21712 deaths were associated with AF as a primary medical diagnosis. Furthermore, the mean cost per hospitalization for patients with a primary diagnosis of AF was \$88194[4].

Even though cryoballoon ablation (CBA) is beneficial in patients with paroxysmal AF refractory to antiarrhythmic drugs, only 80% of patients benefit from initial CBA[5-8]. Myocardial fibrosis is a known risk factor for the development of AF and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) are known agents that prevent remodeling. There is growing evidence that pretreatment with ACEIs and ARBs decreases the recurrence of AF postablation, particularly in nonparoxysmal AF undergoing radiofrequency ablation (RFA) [9]. The role of ACEIs and ARBs in patients with paroxysmal AF in CBA remains unknown. In this study, we aimed to investigate the role of ACEIs and ARBs in preventing recurrence of atrial arrhythmia (AA) following CBA for paroxysmal AF.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Study design and definitions

We performed a single-center, retrospective, cross-sectional study in a community-based tertiary care center in Worcester, MA, USA. Paroxysmal AF was defined as nonsustained episodes of AF converting



to sinus rhythm in < 7 d. Patients were required to be on an ACEI or ARB for a minimum duration of 4 wk. Institutional review board approval was obtained before initiation of the study.

#### Inclusion and exclusion criteria

To be included in this study, participants had to be aged  $\geq$  18 years and have had CBA as a first or repeat procedure for paroxysmal AF between January 2015 and April 2018. We excluded all patients with a diagnosis of permanent and persistent AF. Following inclusion data on baseline demographics, concomitant comorbidities, clinical, laboratory, echocardiographic, pharmacological and ablation procedural details and outcome details were obtained by trained physicians from chart review.

#### Cryoablation procedure

All CBA were conducted under general anesthesia. Two sheaths (7 and 9 Fr) were placed in the left femoral vein following ultrasound-guided vascular access. With the fluoroscopic guidance, an intracardiac echocardiography (ICE) catheter was advanced into the right atrium and a decapolar mapping catheter was positioned within the coronary sinus. A trans-septal sheath was placed through the right femoral vein approach. Heparin was administered intravenously for an activated clotting time > 300 s to prevent intraprocedural thromboembolic events. Trans-septal access to the left atrium was obtained under fluoroscopic and ICE guidance. The trans-septal sheath was exchanged for a 12 Fr Flexcath sheath (Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, USA) which was then utilized to advance a 28-mm Arctic Front Advance Cryoballoon ablation catheter (Medtronic) with the Achieve spiral mapping catheter into the left atrium. An electroanatomic map of the left atrium and all pulmonary veins was performed utilizing 3dimentional mapping software (Abbott Cardiovascular, Santa Clara, CA, USA), guided by a threedimensional computed tomography recreation of the left atrium. Each of the pulmonary veins were then isolated using CBA. During the right-sided pulmonary vein ablation, the decapolar catheter was withdrawn to the superior vena cava to pace the diaphragm and allow for monitoring of phrenic nerve injury. For pulmonary veins with incomplete isolation following CBA, local RFA was performed as needed to provide complete isolation. All pulmonary veins have demonstrated a bidirectional conduction block and a postablation voltage map was created using the mapping software.

#### Follow up for ablation success

The patients with paroxysmal AF undergoing CBA were followed for 1 year postprocedure for any development of AA. The recurrence of AA was assessed through a medical records review by documented self-reported patient symptoms, supplemented by an electrocardiogram or any form of documented long-term rhythm monitoring such as a cardiac event or a Holter monitor. A 3-mo blanking period was used postablation to allow for recurrence of AF after the initial procedure, with the exception for symptomatic patients with early recurrence that required electrical cardioversion or repeat ablation.

#### Statistical analysis

We reported continuous variables as mean with standard deviation and categorical variables as frequency and percentage. A multivariable Cox proportional hazard model was used to assess if ACEI or ARB treatment predicted the risk of AA recurrence. For the multivariate analysis, we utilized two models. In the first model, analysis was adjusted for nonmodifiable variables including age and gender. In the second model, analysis was adjusted for both nonmodifiable (Model 1) and modifiable variables including diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, coronary artery disease (CAD), heart failure (HF), chronic kidney disease stage  $\geq$  3, and at least moderate degree of any valvular heart disease. The  $\chi^2$ test was used to analyze the significance of the categorical variables and Student's t-test was used to analyze the significance of continuous variables. To look for the association between ACEI/ARB use and recurrence of AA, we used the multivariable Cox- proportional analysis and calculated hazard ratio (HR) and 95% confidence interval (CI). We used the Kaplan-Meier method to obtain survival curves and a log-rank test for their comparison. SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) was used for all these statistical analyses. P < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

Between January 2015 and April 2018, 103 patients undergoing CBA as a first or repeat procedure for paroxysmal AF were included in this study. They were divided into two groups based on the use of ACEIs/ARBs at the time of CBA. Their baseline characteristics are presented in Table 1. Out of the 103 patients, 42 were receiving ACEIs/ARBs at the time of CBA. The mean age was similar in both groups (61.7  $\pm$  8.6 years in the ACEI/ARB group vs 59.9  $\pm$  9.5 years in the other group). Patients in the ACEI/ARB group were more likely to be male (78.6% vs 65.6%) and have hypertension (86% vs 54.1%) and CAD (26.2% vs 9.8%). Out of the 42 patients, 21 (58%) were taking ACEIs and 15 (42%) were taking ARBs. In the ACEI group, all patients were taking lisinopril. In the ARB group, 87% of patients were taking losartan. The mean dose for lisinopril was 16 mg orally daily and the median dose was 10 mg



#### Al-Seykal I et al. Role of ACE-I and ARB in cryoballoon ablation

Table 1 Baseline characteristics of study participants			
Characteristics	No ACEI / ARB	ACEI / ARB	<i>P</i> value
mean $\pm$ SD or $n$ (%)	<i>n</i> = 61	<i>n</i> = 42	
Age (yr)	59.9 ± 9.5	$61.7\pm8.6$	0.32
Male	40 (65.6%)	33 (78.6%)	0.15
Baseline heart rate	70 ± 15.7	63 ± 17.8	0.06
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$30.9 \pm 76.6$	$32.3 \pm 6.9$	0.33
Coronary artery disease	6 (9.8%)	11 (26.2%)	0.028
Congestive heart failure	6 (9.8%)	9 (21.4%)	0.10
Diabetes mellitus	9 (14.8%)	12 (28.6%)	0.09
Hypertension	33 (54.1%)	36 (85.7%)	< 0.001
Valvular heart disease	25 (41.0%)	14 (33.3%)	0.43
Hyperlipidemia	40 (65.6%)	31 (73.8%)	0.37
CHA2DS2VASC score	$1.5 \pm 1.4$	$2.0 \pm 1.3$	0.08
Recurrence of AA	9 (14.8%)	10 (24.4%)	0.22

*P* value as calculated by *t*-test for continuous and  $\chi^2$  for categorical variables. SD: Standard deviation; AA: Atrial arrhythmia; ACE-I: Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors; ARB: Angiotensin receptor blockers.

> orally daily. For patients taking losartan, the mean and median doses were 57 and 50 mg orally daily, respectively.

> At 1-year follow-up, 19 (8.4%) patients developed recurrence of AA (Figure 1). The role of ACEIs and ARBs in preventing the recurrence of AA following CBA for paroxysmal AF was assessed using a multivariable Cox proportional hazard model (Table 2). In the initial model adjusted for age and sex, ACEI/ARB use did not have a significant impact on AA recurrence after CBA for paroxysmal AF (HR 1.78, 95% CI 0.72-4.42, P = 0.66). In a second model adjusted for CAD, congestive HF, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and valvular heart disease, ACEI/ARB use still did not have a significant impact on AA recurrence after CBA for paroxysmal AF (HR 1.37, 95%CI 0.51–3.7, P = 0.72). On Kaplan–Meier analysis, ACEI/ARB use did not predict the time to first recurrence of AA (Figure 2, P = 0.2173) in these patients.

#### DISCUSSION

In paroxysmal AF patients undergoing CBA, the use of preprocedural ACEI or ARB had no effect on the recurrence of AA at 1 year follow-up. To our knowledge, this study is the first of its kind to examine the effect of ACEI/ARB use in this subset of patients. It is important to note that the ACEI/ARB group of patients that underwent CBA for paroxysmal AF had significantly higher prevalence of hypertension and CAD, which are known to contribute to myocardial fibrosis. Additionally, both hypertension and CAD contributed to increased left ventricular compliance and left atrial filling pressure. Subsequent left atrial enlargement further promotes AA. These comorbidities, however, were adjusted for in multivariate analysis in Model 2 shown above.

The pulmonary veins are the most common substrate for AF initiation[10,11]. Isolated firing of the atrial myocardium can lead to AF initiation initially as an ectopic focus subsequently progressing to a single-circuit re-entry, and eventually to a multiple-circuit re-entry[12,13]. The process correlates with the duration of AF as it progresses from paroxysmal to persistent, and eventually permanent AF5. Myocardial remodeling is one of the key factors in the pathophysiology of AF and is defined as a group of molecular, cellular and interstitial changes that clinically manifest as changes in size, shape and function of the heart resulting from cardiac injury<sup>[14]</sup>. Additionally, myocardial remodeling can be classified into electrical and structural remodeling. which in turn, can be physiological (adaptive) or pathological<sup>[15]</sup>. There are several ways in which remodeling could lead to arrhythmia development. The first mechanism involves ion channel changes such as inactivation of sodium ion channels, changes in calcium and potassium ion channels, and alteration in the sodium/calcium exchanger function [5,16-18]. Another mechanism includes changes in the junctional intercellular communication, particularly in protein connexin that is responsible for contact between adjacent cells and electrical coupling [19]. Finally, there is structural cardiac remodeling that involves cell death and fibroblast proliferation that promotes extracellular matrix production, and, eventually, fibrosis[20,21]. Fibrotic lesions impede



Table 2 Multivariate adjusted Cox-proportional hazard model of atrial arrhythmia recurrence after cryoablation by angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors/angiotensin receptor blockers			
Outcome of interest	ACEI/ARB HR (95%CI)	No ACEI/ARB HR (95%CI)	P value
Recurrence of AA		Ref	
Model 1 <sup>a</sup>	1.78 (0.72, 4.42)	1.00	0.66
Model 2 <sup>b</sup>	1.37 (0.51, 3.72)	1.00	0.72

<sup>a</sup>Model 1 adjusted for age and sex.

<sup>b</sup>Model 2 adjusted for model 1 + coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, diabetes mellitus, hypertension and valvular heart disease.

AA: Atrial arrhythmia; ACE-I: Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors; ARB: Angiotensin receptor blockers; HR: Hazard ratio; CI: Confidence interval.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.537 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 STROBE diagram showing flow of patients in the study. ACEi: Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB: Angiotensin receptor blocker; AA: Atrial arrhythmia.

electrical propagation and eventually promote mechanisms for re-entrant arrhythmias[15].

In recent times, there has been a renewed interest in investigating the role of the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system in AF. There are several ways hypothesized in which ACEIs and ARBs can potentially affect clinical outcomes. These drugs not only have direct effects on the functional remodeling or electrical properties but also indirect effects by controlling hypertension and HF symptoms which are known risk factors for AF[22]. Atrial myocardium is sensitive to increased hemodynamic stressors due to volume and pressure overload from hypertension and HF. These stressors can in turn promote electrical alterations such as decreased resting potential and delayed afterdepolarizations contributing to increased myocardial excitability<sup>[23]</sup>. Additionally, increased hemodynamic load and myocardial mechanical stretch can activate genetic pathways that rapidly augment the secretion of angiotensin II[24]. Angiotensin II can successively contribute to arrhythmogenicity by promoting an increase net inward calcium current in affected cardiomyocytes and by inducing myocardial hypertrophy and fibrosis[25]. Increased fibrosis of the atrial myocardium is known to be associated with AF[5,20]. G protein-coupled receptor agonists like angiotensin II induce cellular differentiation processes and activation of fibroblasts, and the development of interstitial fibrosis through activation of extracellular signal-regulating kinases (ERKs). These findings were confirmed in a small study by Goette et al[26] where patients with AF undergoing cardiac surgery were found to have a significant increase in atrial fibrosis along with an increased expression of ERK1 and ERK2 in atrial interstitial cells.

The use of ACEIs and ARBs has also been shown to be associated with a decreased AF burden in certain population groups. Anné et al [27] investigated 196 patients undergoing RFA for atrial flutter and evaluated outcomes associated with the use of an ACEI or ARB. Predictably, more than half of these patients eventually developed AF, but it was found that the use of an ACEI/ARB was associated with reduced incidence of AF after atrial flutter ablation (P = 0.04)[27]. Furthermore, the use of ARBs was



Figure 2 One-year Kaplan–Meier Survival curve of atrial arrythmia recurrence after cryoablation by angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors / angiotensin receptor blockers use. AA: Atrial arrythmia; ACEi: Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB: Angiotensin receptor blocker.

evaluated in conjunction with antiarrhythmic medications and showed better outcomes in comparison to antiarrhythmics alone. In a prospective randomized trial by Madrid *et al*[28], 159 patients were randomized to either amiodarone or amiodarone plus irbesartan to evaluate the role of ACEI in maintaining sinus rhythm in persistent AF. Patients in the irbesartan plus amiodarone combination group had a significantly higher rate of sinus rhythm maintenance at 360 d in comparison to the group on amiodarone alone.

In patients with HF and AF, preablation use of an ACEI resulted in an improved ablation success rate in nonparoxysmal AF with low ejection fraction. In a single center, Mohanty *et al*[9] investigated 703 consecutive patients with preserved left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF > 45%) and 345 patients with reduced EF (< 45%) undergoing RFA for AF. At  $24 \pm 7$  mo of follow-up, in patients with nonparoxysmal AF and reduced EF, the ACEI pretreatment group had lower recurrence of AF post-RFA compared to the non-ACEI group (76% *vs* 64%, *P* = 0.015). Among paroxysmal AF patients regardless of LVEF, ACEI use was not observed to be associated with improved RFA outcomes (80% *vs* 77%, *P* = 0.82). These findings are similar to our study, which demonstrated that in patients with paroxysmal AF the use of an ACEI or ARB did not affect outcomes and event-free survival following CBA. Currently, the guidelines do not recommend the use of ARB or ACEI for the sole purpose of preventing the recurrence of AF, due to a lack of substantial literature supporting it. However, there is growing evidence that in patients with nonparoxysmal AF undergoing RFA, the use of ACEIs or ARBs decreases the recurrence of AF.

Our study had its inherent limitations. Firstly, it was a single center retrospective study with a small sample size limiting the generalizability of outcomes. Secondly, the study population was underpowered for the detection of benefits in patients with paroxysmal AF. Thirdly, we examined an exclusive population of patients with paroxysmal AF and not persistent AF who are known to have a higher degree of electrical and structural remodeling with the potential for superior benefits with ACEIs/ARBs. Since this was a small retrospective study, we could not perform a power analysis. Lastly, our patient population within the ACEI/ARB group had a higher rate of hypertension and CAD. Although these factors were accounted for in the multivariate analysis, we did not collect the data on whether CAD was optimally treated or required a revascularization procedure. Despite these limitations, our study is the first of its kind to examine the role of ACEI/ARB use in an exclusive population of paroxysmal AF patients undergoing CBA.

#### CONCLUSION

In paroxysmal AF patients undergoing CBA, the use of ACEIs or ARBs was not associated with decreased recurrence of AA. Larger, multicenter, controlled studies, particularly in patients with persistent AF and those at risk for significant myocardial fibrosis such as cardiomyopathy, HF or valvular disease are necessary to fully evaluate the effect of ACEIs, ARBs, or angiotensin receptor



neprilysin inhibitors such as sacubitril/valsartan in patients undergoing CBA for AF.

#### **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Cryo-balloon ablation (CBA) is recommended for patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (AF) refractory to antiarrhythmic drugs. However, only 80% of patients benefit from initial CBA.

#### Research motivation

Myocardial fibrosis is a known risk factor for the development of AF and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) are known agents that prevent remodeling. There is growing evidence that pretreatment with ACEIs and ARBs decreases the recurrence of AF postablation, particularly in nonparoxysmal AF undergoing radiofrequency ablation.

#### Research objectives

To investigate the role of ACEIs and ARBs in preventing the recurrence of atrial arrhythmia (AA) following CBA for paroxysmal AF.

#### Research methods

We performed a single-center, retrospective, cross-sectional study. All patients aged 18 years or older, with a diagnosis of paroxysmal AF, undergoing CBA as a first or repeat procedure between January 2015 and April 2018 were included. We followed these patients with paroxysmal AF undergoing CBA for 1 year post-procedure. Recurrence was assessed by documented AA on electrocardiogram or any form of long-term cardiac rhythm monitoring.

#### Research results

After 1-year follow-up, out of 103 patients, 19 (18.4%) developed recurrence of AA. Of these, 42 patients were receiving ACEIs/ARBs at the time of CBA. 21 (58%) patients were taking ACEIs and 15 (42%) ARBs. Patients on ACEIs/ARBs had a greater prevalence of hypertension and coronary artery disease. On a multivariate model adjusted for baseline demographics and risk factors for AF, ACEI or ARB therapy did not prevent the recurrence of AA following CBA (P = 0.72). Similarly, on Kaplan-Meier analysis pretreatment with ACEIs/ARBs did not predict the time to first recurrence of AA (P = 0.2173).

#### Research conclusions

In paroxysmal AF patients undergoing CBA, the use of ACEIs or ARBs was not associated with decreased recurrence of AA.

#### Research perspectives

Future studies, particularly in patients with persistent AF and those at risk for significant myocardial fibrosis such as cardiomyopathy, heart failure or valvular disease are necessary to fully evaluate the effect of ACEIs, ARBs, or angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitors such as sacubitril/valsartan in patients undergoing CBA for AF.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Al-Seykal I and Bose A contributed to the conceptual design of the study; Al-Seykal I, Bose A, Mishra A and Hashmath Z independently screened the medical records and extracted the data; Chevli P did the statistical analysis; Al-Seykal I, Mishra A, Hashmath Z and Sharma N contributed to write-up and submission of the study; Bose A, Mishra A, and Laidlaw D reviewed the final manuscript; all authors reviewed and agreed with the final content of the article.

Institutional review board statement: This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of MetroWest Medical Center.

Informed consent statement: Patients were not required to give informed consent to the study because the analysis used anonymous clinical data that were obtained after each patient agreed to treatment by written consent.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All authors have no financial relationships to disclose.

**Data sharing statement:** No additional data are available.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by



external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Ibragim Al-Seykal 0000-0001-5527-068X; Abhishek Bose 0000-0002-9318-3234; Parag A Chevli 0000-0002-4084-8175; Zeba Hashmath 0000-0002-4575-6923; Nitish Sharma 0000-0002-6221-3197; Ajay K Mishra 0000-0003-4862-5053; Douglas Laidlaw 0000-0003-0373-5232.

S-Editor: Wang LL L-Editor: Kerr C P-Editor: Wang LL

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Ball J, Carrington MJ, McMurray JJ, Stewart S. Atrial fibrillation: profile and burden of an evolving epidemic in the 21st century. Int J Cardiol 2013; 167: 1807-1824 [PMID: 23380698 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.12.093]
- Chen LY, Shen WK. Epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: a current perspective. Heart Rhythm 2007; 4: S1-S6 [PMID: 2 17336876 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2006.12.018]
- Jackson SL, Tong X, Yin X, George MG, Ritchey MD. Emergency Department, Hospital Inpatient, and Mortality Burden of Atrial Fibrillation in the United States, 2006 to 2014. Am J Cardiol 2017; 120: 1966-1973 [PMID: 28964382 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2017.08.017]
- 4 Sheikh A, Patel NJ, Nalluri N, Agnihotri K, Spagnola J, Patel A, Asti D, Kanotra R, Khan H, Savani C, Arora S, Patel N, Thakkar B, Pau D, Badheka AO, Deshmukh A, Kowalski M, Viles-Gonzalez J, Paydak H. Trends in hospitalization for atrial fibrillation: epidemiology, cost, and implications for the future. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2015; 58: 105-116 [PMID: 26162957 DOI: 10.1016/j.pcad.2015.07.002]
- 5 Iwasaki YK, Nishida K, Kato T, Nattel S. Atrial fibrillation pathophysiology: implications for management. Circulation 2011; 124: 2264-2274 [PMID: 22083148 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.019893]
- Calkins H, Hindricks G, Cappato R, Kim YH, Saad EB, Aguinaga L, Akar JG, Badhwar V, Brugada J, Camm J, Chen PS, 6 Chen SA, Chung MK, Cosedis Nielsen J, Curtis AB, Davies DW, Day JD, d'Avila A, Natasja de Groot NMS, Di Biase L, Duytschaever M, Edgerton JR, Ellenbogen KA, Ellinor PT, Ernst S, Fenelon G, Gerstenfeld EP, Haines DE, Haissaguerre M, Helm RH, Hylek E, Jackman WM, Jalife J, Kalman JM, Kautzner J, Kottkamp H, Kuck KH, Kumagai K, Lee R, Lewalter T, Lindsay BD, Macle L, Mansour M, Marchlinski FE, Michaud GF, Nakagawa H, Natale A, Nattel S, Okumura K, Packer D, Pokushalov E, Reynolds MR, Sanders P, Scanavacca M, Schilling R, Tondo C, Tsao HM, Verma A, Wilber DJ, Yamane T; Document Reviewers. 2017 HRS/EHRA/ECAS/APHRS/SOLAECE expert consensus statement on catheter and surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation. Europace 2018; 20: e1-e160 [PMID: 29016840 DOI: 10.1016/i.hrthm.2017.05.012
- Andrade JG, Champagne J, Dubuc M, Deyell MW, Verma A, Macle L, Leong-Sit P, Novak P, Badra-Verdu M, Sapp J, 7 Mangat I, Khoo C, Steinberg C, Bennett MT, Tang ASL, Khairy P; CIRCA-DOSE Study Investigators. Cryoballoon or Radiofrequency Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation Assessed by Continuous Monitoring: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Circulation 2019; 140: 1779-1788 [PMID: 31630538 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.042622]
- 8 Morillo CA, Verma A, Connolly SJ, Kuck KH, Nair GM, Champagne J, Sterns LD, Beresh H, Healey JS, Natale A; RAAFT-2 Investigators. Radiofrequency ablation vs antiarrhythmic drugs as first-line treatment of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (RAAFT-2): a randomized trial. JAMA 2014; 311: 692-700 [PMID: 24549549 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2014.467]
- Mohanty S, Mohanty P, Trivedi C, Gianni C, Bai R, Burkhardt JD, Gallinghouse JG, Horton R, Sanchez JE, Hranitzky PM, Al-Ahmad A, Bailey S, Di Biase L, Natale A. Association of pretreatment with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors with improvement in ablation outcome in atrial fibrillation patients with low left ventricular ejection fraction. Heart Rhythm 2015; 12: 1963-1971 [PMID: 26051531 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2015.06.007]
- 10 Mahida S, Sacher F, Derval N, Berte B, Yamashita S, Hooks D, Denis A, Amraoui S, Hocini M, Haissaguerre M, Jais P. Science Linking Pulmonary Veins and Atrial Fibrillation. Arrhythm Electrophysiol Rev 2015; 4: 40-43 [PMID: 26835098 DOI: 10.15420/aer.2015.4.1.40]
- Bose A, Chevli PA, Berberian G, Januszkiewicz J, Ahmad G, Hashmath Z, Mishra AK, Laidlaw D. Presence of a left 11 common pulmonary vein and pulmonary vein anatomical characteristics as predictors of outcome following cryoballoon ablation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. J Interv Card Electrophysiol 2021; 62: 409-417 [PMID: 33206281 DOI: 10.1007/s10840-020-00916-6
- 12 Allessie MA, Boyden PA, Camm AJ, Kléber AG, Lab MJ, Legato MJ, Rosen MR, Schwartz PJ, Spooner PM, Van Wagoner DR, Waldo AL. Pathophysiology and prevention of atrial fibrillation. Circulation 2001; 103: 769-777 [PMID: 11156892 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.103.5.769]
- Wakili R, Voigt N, Kääb S, Dobrev D, Nattel S. Recent advances in the molecular pathophysiology of atrial fibrillation. J 13 Clin Invest 2011; 121: 2955-2968 [PMID: 21804195 DOI: 10.1172/JCI46315]
- 14 Azevedo PS, Polegato BF, Minicucci MF, Paiva SA, Zornoff LA. Cardiac Remodeling: Concepts, Clinical Impact, Pathophysiological Mechanisms and Pharmacologic Treatment. Arq Bras Cardiol 2016; 106: 62-69 [PMID: 26647721 DOI: 10.5935/abc.20160005]
- 15 Cutler MJ, Jeyaraj D, Rosenbaum DS. Cardiac electrical remodeling in health and disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2011;



32: 174-180 [PMID: 21316769 DOI: 10.1016/j.tips.2010.12.001]

- 16 Obreztchikova MN, Patberg KW, Plotnikov AN, Ozgen N, Shlapakova IN, Rybin AV, Sosunov EA, Danilo P Jr, Anyukhovsky EP, Robinson RB, Rosen MR. I(Kr) contributes to the altered ventricular repolarization that determines longterm cardiac memory. Cardiovasc Res 2006; 71: 88-96 [PMID: 16626671 DOI: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2006.02.028]
- 17 Plotnikov AN, Yu H, Geller JC, Gainullin RZ, Chandra P, Patberg KW, Friezema S, Danilo P Jr, Cohen IS, Feinmark SJ, Rosen MR. Role of L-type calcium channels in pacing-induced short-term and long-term cardiac memory in canine heart. Circulation 2003; 107: 2844-2849 [PMID: 12756152 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000068376.88600.41]
- Thomsen MB, Wang C, Ozgen N, Wang HG, Rosen MR, Pitt GS. Accessory subunit KChIP2 modulates the cardiac L-18 type calcium current. Circ Res 2009; 104: 1382-1389 [PMID: 19461043 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.196972]
- Patel PM, Plotnikov A, Kanagaratnam P, Shvilkin A, Sheehan CT, Xiong W, Danilo P Jr, Rosen MR, Peters NS. Altering 19 ventricular activation remodels gap junction distribution in canine heart. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2001; 12: 570-577 [PMID: 11386519 DOI: 10.1046/j.1540-8167.2001.00570.x]
- 20 Burstein B, Nattel S. Atrial fibrosis: mechanisms and clinical relevance in atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 51: 802-809 [PMID: 18294563 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.09.064]
- 21 Yue L, Xie J, Nattel S. Molecular determinants of cardiac fibroblast electrical function and therapeutic implications for atrial fibrillation. Cardiovasc Res 2011; 89: 744-753 [PMID: 20962103 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvq329]
- Ehrlich JR, Hohnloser SH, Nattel S. Role of angiotensin system and effects of its inhibition in atrial fibrillation: clinical 22 and experimental evidence. Eur Heart J 2006; 27: 512-518 [PMID: 16311236 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi668]
- 23 Franz MR. Mechano-electrical feedback. Cardiovasc Res 2000; 45: 263-266 [PMID: 10728344 DOI: 10.1016/S0008-6363(99)00390-9]
- 24 Sadoshima J, Izumo S. The cellular and molecular response of cardiac myocytes to mechanical stress. Annu Rev Physiol 1997; 59: 551-571 [PMID: 9074777 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.59.1.551]
- Kass RS, Blair ML. Effects of angiotensin II on membrane current in cardiac Purkinje fibers. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1981; 13: 25 797-809 [PMID: 7299830 DOI: 10.1016/0022-2828(81)90237-6]
- 26 Goette A, Staack T, Röcken C, Arndt M, Geller JC, Huth C, Ansorge S, Klein HU, Lendeckel U. Increased expression of extracellular signal-regulated kinase and angiotensin-converting enzyme in human atria during atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 35: 1669-1677 [PMID: 10807475 DOI: 10.1016/s0735-1097(00)00611-2]
- Anné W, Willems R, Van der Merwe N, Van de Werf F, Ector H, Heidbüchel H. Atrial fibrillation after radiofrequency 27 ablation of atrial flutter: preventive effect of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin II receptor blockers, and diuretics. Heart 2004; 90: 1025-1030 [PMID: 15310691 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2003.023069]
- 28 Madrid AH, Bueno MG, Rebollo JM, Marín I, Peña G, Bernal E, Rodriguez A, Cano L, Cano JM, Cabeza P, Moro C. Use of irbesartan to maintain sinus rhythm in patients with long-lasting persistent atrial fibrillation: a prospective and randomized study. Circulation 2002; 106: 331-336 [PMID: 12119249 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000022665.18619.83]



WJC

# World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2022 October 26; 14(10): 546-556

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.546

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

## Virulent endocarditis due to Haemophilus parainfluenzae: A systematic review of the literature

Abdulbaril Olagunju, Jake Martinez, Dorothy Kenny, Philip Gideon, Farouk Mookadam, Samuel Unzek

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Jayaweera J, Sri Lanka; Tousoulis D, Greece

Received: July 2, 2022 Peer-review started: July 2, 2022 First decision: August 1, 2022 Revised: August 27, 2022 Accepted: September 15, 2022 Article in press: September 15, 2022 Published online: October 26, 2022



Abdulbaril Olagunju, Dorothy Kenny, Department of Internal Medicine, Creighton University School of Medicine, Phoenix, AZ 85013, United States

Jake Martinez, Philip Gideon, Farouk Mookadam, Samuel Unzek, Department of Cardiology, Heart Center, University of Arizona College of Medicine-Phoenix, Banner University Medical Center, Phoenix, AZ 85006, United States

Farouk Mookadam, Department of Cardio-oncology, Banner MD Anderson Cancer Center, Phoenix, AZ 85006, United States

Corresponding author: Abdulbaril Olagunju, MD, Doctor, Internal medicine, Creighton University School of Medicine, 350 W Thomas Road, Phoenix, AZ 85013, United States. ab.dapoola@gmail.com

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Haemophilus parainfluenzae (HPI) belongs to the HACEK (Haemophilus spp., Aggregatibacter spp., Cardiobacterium spp., Eikenella spp., and Kingella spp.) group of organisms. The HACEK group of organisms are a part of the oropharyngeal flora and can cause invasive opportunistic infection such infective endocarditis (IE) in hosts with compromised immunological barriers.

#### AIM

To perform a 20-year systematic review of the literature characterizing the clinical presentation, epidemiology and prognosis of HPI IE.

#### **METHODS**

We performed a systematic review of Medline, Pubmed, Scopus and Embase from 2000 to 2022 to identify all cases of HPI IE.

#### RESULTS

Thirty-nine adult cases were identified. HPI IE was found to affect males slightly more than females and is common in patients with predisposing risk factors such as underlying valvular abnormalities. It mostly affected the mitral valve and had an indolent course; significantly sized vegetations (> 1 cm) developed in most cases. Central nervous system septic embolization was common. It had a favorable prognosis compared to staphylococcal and streptococcal IE.

#### CONCLUSION

Clinicians should be attentive to the indolent course of HPI IE and the presence of



predisposing risk factors in order to allow for timely management.

Key Words: Haemophilus parainfluenzae; Infective endocarditis; Mitral valve; Vegetation

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** This review and illustrative case show a temporal change in the epidemiology of *Haemophilus parainfluenzae* (HPI) infective endocarditis in 2000–2022. Compared with a review of 26 HPI endocarditis cases from 1984–1995 by Darras-Joly *et al*, this review reported younger mean age, similar rate of infection in both genders, shorter time to diagnosis, higher association with intravenous drug use (IVDU), higher rate of embolic events in general, and tricuspid and pulmonic valve involvement. The rate of mitral valve involvement has remained steady over the past three decades, while there has been a decrease in the rate of aortic valve involvement. There has been a decrease in valvular vegetation rates and incidence of congestive heart failure as complications, while the mortality rate remained similar. These findings indicate improvement in diagnosis and treatment of HPI over the past three decades; however, they also suggest an increase in its virulence and an association with the rising rate of IVDU highlighted by the involvement of the right-sided heart valves.

Citation: Olagunju A, Martinez J, Kenny D, Gideon P, Mookadam F, Unzek S. Virulent endocarditis due to *Haemophilus parainfluenzae*: A systematic review of the literature. *World J Cardiol* 2022; 14(10): 546-556 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i10/546.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.546

#### INTRODUCTION

Infective endocarditis (IE) remains a significant cause of morbidity and mortality. The incidence has increased from 5–7 cases per 100000 of the population in 2000 to 15 cases per 100000 person-years in 2011[1-3]. Common risk factors include an immunocompromised state, intravenous drug use (IVDU), underlying valvular disorders, prosthetic valves, and implanted cardiac devices[1-3]. The microbiology of IE is important and affects clinical presentation and prognosis[1-3]. Skin flora, including *Staphylococcus*, *Enterococcus* and *Streptococcus* spp., are the most common causative organisms in IE, accounting for 80%–90% of cases, with a mortality rate as high as 30%[1-3].

Although less common, the oropharyngeal flora is also an important cause of IE, particularly the HACEK (*Haemophilus* spp., *Aggregatibacter* spp., *Cardiobacterium* spp., *Eikenella* spp., and *Kingella* spp.) group[1,4-6]. This group has been identified in 1.5%–2% of all IE cases, with a mortality rate of 2%[4-6]. They are fastidious Gram-negative bacilli known for their slow growth in routine blood culture media, which may cause a delay in diagnosis[4,5]. Reported risk factors for the development of HACEK group IE include recent dental procedures and abnormal heart valves[4,5]. The most common organism implicated is *Aggregatibacter* spp[4,6]; however, IE due to *Haemophilus parainfluenzae* (HPI) is gaining increasing attention in the literature. Here, we present an illustrative case of endocarditis in a healthy young man with no predisposing risk factors, and a systematic review of HPI IE cases reported in the literature within the last 20 years to characterize its clinical presentation, epidemiology and prognosis.

#### Illustrative case

A 25-year-old man with no significant past medical history presented to the emergency department with a 2-mo history of worsening frontal headache and 1 wk of fever and watery diarrhea. Physical examination was significant for a fever of 39.1 °C, heart rate of 109 beats/min, blood pressure of 118/63 mmHg, and holosystolic murmur auscultated at the cardiac apex. Laboratory results were remarkable for white blood count (WBC) count of 12.9 K/L (normal: 4-11), hemoglobin 8.5 g/dL (normal: 13.5–17.0), mean corpuscular volume 77 fL (normal: 78–100), relative distribution width of 16.2% (normal: 11–15), procalcitonin 2.33 ng/mL (normal: 0.49), C-reactive protein 218 mg/L (normal: 4.9), and erythrocyte sedimentation rate 56 mm/h (normal: 0-15). Intravenous (IV) vancomycin, ceftriaxone and acyclovir were initiated due to concern for meningitis. Chest radiograph and head computed tomography were negative for acute abnormalities. A lumbar puncture was performed, with cerebrospinal spinal fluid (CSF) analysis positive for WBC count of 231/mm<sup>3</sup> (normal: 0–5), with 67% neutrophils and 21% lymphocytes, glucose 51 mg/dL (normal: 40–70), and protein f 49.9 mg/dL (normal: 15–40). CSF herpes simplex virus polymerase chain reaction was negative, and acyclovir was discontinued.

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Blood cultures on hospital day 4 showed Gram-negative rods, which speciated to HPI on hospital day 6. CSF cultures remained negative, and antibiotics were de-escalated to IV ceftriaxone for HPI bacteremia. Additionally, esophagogastroduodenoscopy, colonoscopy and subsequent biopsies were normal. Iron studies were significant for serum iron of 9 g/dL (normal: 40–190), transferrin 119 mg/dL (normal: 200-390), transferrin saturation 6% (normal: 15-50), total iron binding capacity 167.8 g/dL (normal: 250–435), and ferritin 1083 ng/mL (normal: 25–506).

Transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) and transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) revealed two mobile echodensities on the atrial side of the mitral valve, consistent with vegetations on the A2 and P2 segments of the mitral leaflets (Figure 1), with an anterior leaflet perforation and a severe mitral regurgitation (Videos 1 and 2). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain revealed a 1.0 0.5 cm ring enhancing lesion in the right parietal lobe with surrounding vasogenic edema, suggestive of an abscess secondary to septic emboli (Figure 2A). Repeat MRI brain at 4 wk revealed near resolution of the right parietal lobe lesion (Figure 2B). After completing 8 wk of ceftriaxone, he underwent mitral valve repair with edge-to-edge repair of A1 and P1 segments. Postoperative TEE revealed adequate A1 and P1 fusion. The postoperative course was complicated by left-sided proximal muscle weakness and paresthesia, which resolved within 48 h. He completed cardiac rehabilitation successfully and had no further complications.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Data sources and searches

Two authors (AO and DK) independently searched Medline, Pubmed, Scopus, Embase and Reference Citation Analysis from January 1, 2000 to March 30, 2022 using the following keywords: Haemophilus parainfluenzae and infective endocarditis. An independent search was conducted by a qualified librarian using similar terms. Only articles published in English were included.

#### Article selection

Inclusion criteria included IE due to HPI, patients aged > 18 years, positive blood or pathology specimens for HPI, and clinical and echocardiographic evidence of IE. Articles not meeting these criteria were excluded. The study adhered to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Metaanalysis (PRISMA)[7] (PRISMA 2009 Checklist).

#### Data extraction

Extracted data included patient demographics (age and gender), symptoms at initial presentation, comorbidities (prior valvular disorder, structural heart defects, recent dental, and gastrointestinal or genitourinary procedures), affected valves, severity of valvular damage, patient management, and complications.

#### Data analysis

We conducted a qualitative systematic analysis using descriptive statistics. A meta-analysis could not be performed due to the differences among individual cases and the small sample sizes (i.e. 1 patient) included in the case reports.

#### RESULTS

#### Search results and article inclusion

Our initial search generated 383 articles. After excluding 221 duplicates, the remaining 162 articles were screened for inclusion (Figure 3). Of these, 39 articles [8-46] were systematically reviewed. The remaining articles were excluded because they were irrelevant to the topic (36 articles), discussing IE with organisms other than HPI (52 articles), review articles on HACEK organisms and IE (13 articles), pediatric case reports on HPI IE (12 articles), or not published in English (3 articles).

#### Patient characteristics

Age and gender: A total of 39 patients were identified. The mean age was 39 years, with a range of 18-69 years. There was a slight predominance towards men (52.5%).

Predisposing risk factors for IE: Approximately 10% of the patients reported a history of IE. About 17.5% had a history of valve replacement (4 with bioprosthetic valves, 2 with mechanical valves, and 1 with unspecified valve type). Twenty percent had mitral valve disorders (3 with mitral valve prolapse, 2 with rheumatic heart disease, and 1 with mitral regurgitation). Eighteen percent had aortic valve disorders (3 with bicuspid aortic valve and 3 with aortic stenosis). Current IVDU was reported in 17.5%. Approximately 10% had poor dentition. Thirteen percent had a history of pacemaker and implanted





DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.546 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Zoomed mid-esophageal view on transesophageal echocardiography, showing an echodensity attached to the A2 segment of the anterior leaflet of the mitral valve (red arrow) with evidence of leaflet perforation in the A1 segment (blue arrow).



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.546 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Septic embolus in the brain. A: T2-weighted MRI brain showing a 1.0 cm × 0.5 cm ring enhancing lesion (blue arrow) in the right parietal lobe with central diffusion restriction and mild surrounding vasogenic edema; B: Repeat MRI brain with near complete resolution of the ring enhancing lesion. MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging.

> cardiac defibrillator placement. Two patients had a recent gastrointestinal or genitourinary tract procedure. Three patients were immunocompromised, 2 of which were pregnant (Table 1). Seven of the 39 patients had no predisposing risk factors.

> Presenting symptoms and signs: The most common presenting symptom was fever, reported in most patients (36 patients), followed by fatigue (25 patients). Seven patients had shortness of breath, and four reported weight loss. Twenty-eight of 39 patients also presented with one or more manifestations of septic emboli, including embolic stroke (20 patients), septic pulmonary embolism (4 patients), renal emboli (2 patients), and splenic infarct (3 patients). Cutaneous manifestations were noted including Janeway lesions (3 patients), splinter hemorrhages (4 patients), petechiae or purpura (2 patients), or Osler nodes (1 patient) (Table 1).

> Valve involvement: Valvular regurgitation was by far the most common abnormality; reported in 28 patients. Of these, 14 had severe regurgitation, eight had moderate regurgitation, and two had mild regurgitation. Mitral regurgitation and stenosis were reported in one case, and mitral valve prolapse was reported in one case. The mitral valve was the most common valve to be affected; noted in 28 patients. Eight patients had aortic valve involvement. The tricuspid valve was affected in seven patients, and only one patient had pulmonary valve involvement (Table 1).

> Echocardiography: TTE was the main diagnostic modality, utilized in 36 (90%) patients, followed by TEE for confirmation in 33 patients. Valvular vegetations were reported in 23 patients, with an



#### Table 1 Compares the characteristics of infective endocarditis caused by Haemophilus parainfluenzae in this systematic review with the review by Darras-Joly et al[58]

Characteristics		Present review, n (%)	Previous review, <i>n</i> (%)
Mean duration from sx to dx		18.9 (3-49) d	28.2 (5-80) d
Demographics	Age, yr (range)	39 (18-69)	43.9 (21-79)
	Male-to-female ratio	Approximately 1:1	Approximately 2:1
Predisposing risk factors	History of IE	4 (10)	1 (3.8)
	Valve disorder and/or replacement	10 (25)	18 (69.2)
	IVDU	8 (20)	1 (2.4)
	Poor dentition	4 (10)	NR
	Cardiac devices	5 (13)	4 (15.4)
	History of recent GI/GU procedure	2 (5)	NR
	Immunocompromised	3 (8)	3 (7.1)
Symptoms and signs	Fever	36 (90)	40 (95.2)
	Fatigue	24 (60)	NR
	Vegetations	24 (60)	19 (73.1)
	Abscesses	7 (17.5)	2 (7.7)
	Embolic events	29 (73)	15 (35.7)
	CNS	20 (50)	9 (21.4)
	Lungs	4 (10)	2 (4.8)
	Spleen	3 (7.5)	2 (4.8)
	Kidney	2 (5)	1 (2.4)
Valves affected	Mitral	29 (73)	19 (73)
	Aorta	8 (20)	8 (30.7)
	Tricuspid	7 (17.5)	1 (3.8)
	Pulmonic	1 (2.5)	0 (0)
	Multiple valves	6 (15)	3 (11.5)
Outcomes	Recovery with antibiotics and/or surgery	35 (88)	NR
	CHF	3 (8)	13 (30.9)
	Death	2 (5)	2 (4.8)

CHF: Congestive heart failure; dx: Diagnosis; GI: Gastrointestinal; GU: Genitourinary; IVDU: Intravenous drug use; IE: Infective endocarditis; sx: Symptoms; NR: Not reported.

> estimated mean size of 1.9 cm. Cardiac abscesses were reported in 17.5%, but abscess size was reported in only one of the cases as 1.6 1.8 cm. The abscess locations included the aortic root, mitral-aortic intervalvular fibrosa, near a prosthetic aortic valve, left ventricular endocardium, and myocardium. Three patients developed a fistulous connection between the atrium and ventricle. Valvular perforation was reported in 2 cases.

> Treatment: The majority (28 patients) were treated both medically and surgically. Nine patients underwent valve repair, while six underwent replacement. Two patients underwent pacemaker removal. Eleven patients had unspecified surgical intervention. Sixty-two percent of patients were treated with ceftriaxone. Ten percent received other antibiotics including levofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, gentamicin, cefotaxime and rifampin. The antibiotic therapy utilized in the remaining 28% of patients was not specified.

> Outcome: Two patients reportedly developed congestive heart failure (CHF) and two patients died. The remaining 35 patients recovered adequately.

Baishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 PRISMA flow chart highlighting article search and selection.

#### DISCUSSION

HPI is a part of the oropharyngeal and genitourinary tract flora and has been implicated as a cause of opportunistic infections such as meningitis, IE, and septic arthritis<sup>[47]</sup>. It is a fastidious Gram-negative coccobacillus and belongs to the genus Haemophilus which consists of the H. influenzae, H. parainfluenzae and *H. ducreyi* groups[47]. They require beta-nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) and/or heme to supplement in vitro growth [47]. An important differentiating feature of HPI is its ability to synthesize heme and hence does not require heme supplementation to grow[47].

The virulence of HPI is not well characterized [47,48]. In general, the *H. parainfluenzae* group has some degree of resistance to beta-lactam antibiotics, particularly penicillins[47,48]. Isolates have been identified that are multidrug resistant to tetracyclines, fluoroquinolones and macrolides[47]. The mechanisms behind this resistance are due to mutations in the penicillin-binding protein, Tet, DNA gyrase, topoisomerase, and 50s ribosomal protein genes[47,49]. The antibiotics with adequate minimum inhibitory concentration on HPI include levofloxacin, cefditoren, cefotaxime and cefpodoxime, although other antibiotics such as aminoglycosides and chloramphenicol may have adequate effect[50,51]. Culturing HPI involves addition of patients' blood samples to a brain-heart infusion with 5% beef extract broth, which is incubated at 37 °C for up to 14 d[52]. Gram-negative coccobacilli are identified via Gram stain and inoculated onto a peptone-protease agar[52]. Paper discs containing NAD and heme are applied to the agar which incubates overnight[52]. HPI is then identified based on its sole reliance on the presence of NAD for growth[52]. Additionally, the 16S rRNA polymerase chain reaction and mass spectrometry are reliable means of differentiating *Hemophilus* spp. and the HACEK organisms without culturing[18].

In our review, the majority of patients had at least one predisposing risk factor for IE, such as a history of IE, an underlying valve disorder, a prosthetic or mechanical valve or a cardiac device, poor dentition, recent dental procedure within 2 wk, IVDU, or an immunocompromised state (including use of steroids or pregnancy). This is important for clinicians to recognize, as eradication or control of the predisposing factor may help prevent recurrent HPI infection.

The average duration between symptom onset and diagnosis was 18.9 d, and surgical intervention (due to the presence of large vegetations ~2 cm) was required in most of the patients (69%). These features highlight the indolent course of HPI IE and signify the need for prompt diagnosis, which may reduce the need for surgical intervention. The resolution of IE with cephalosporin, aminoglycoside and fluoroquinolone antibiotics suggests that the majority of HPI bacteria in the past 20 years are not multidrug resistant.

The risk of embolic events in IE is common with Staphylococcus aureus, Candida spp., and HACEK organisms[51]. The reported incidence ranges between 28% and 66% for S. aureus, with central nervous



system (CNS) embolism being the most common [53,54]. In this review, ~70% of embolic complications were in the CNS. This is notable as previously, *Kingella* spp. appeared to have the highest rate of CNS embolism of all HACEK organisms, with a rate of 20%-30% [55]. Embolic events have been associated with worse prognosis in IE, with the risk proportional to vegetation size > 10 mm[53,54]. The indolent or subacute course of HPI IE may explain why the mortality remains lower compared to IE involving other organisms, despite significant vegetation size. The in-hospital mortality rates of S. aureus and Streptococcus spp. IE are 20%–30% and 11%, respectively [53,56]. The mortality rate of HPI IE in this review was 5%. Of the HACEK organisms that cause IE in adults, Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans (a member of the Aggregatibacter spp.) and Cardiobacterium spp. have the highest reported mortality rates of 18% and 10%, respectively [57,58]. While both are associated more with aortic valve endocarditis [57,58], HPI more commonly affects the mitral valve.

Our findings and the illustrative case show a temporal change in the epidemiology of HPI within 2000-2022. Compared to a review of 26 HPI endocarditis cases from 1984 to 1995 by Darras-Joly et al [58], this review reported a younger mean age, similar rate of infection in both genders, shorter time to diagnosis, higher association with IVDU, higher rate of embolic events, and tricuspid and pulmonic valve involvement. The rate of mitral valve involvement has remained steady over the past three decades, while there has been a decrease in the rate of aortic valve involvement. Valvular vegetation rates and CHF incidence have decreased, while the mortality rate remained similar (Table 1). These findings might indicate the improvement in the diagnosis and treatment of HPI over the past three decades. However, the increased involvement of right-sided valves suggests an increase in its virulence and an association with the rising rate of IVDU. Notably, the review by Darras-Joly et al[58] was not systematic because it was limited to cases in France. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first systematic review HPI IE to be published in the English language literature.

Our patient's presentation of subacute IE highlights the typical features of HPI IE. It is indolent, has a predilection for the mitral valve, and is commonly associated with septic emboli involving the CNS. However, multiple features were present suggesting HPI may be more virulent in the current era, including the patient's absence of risk factors, HPI induced leaflet perforation (which was not noted in our review), and valvular destruction requiring surgery.

#### Limitations

A noteworthy limitation of this review is that it did not account for unreported cases of HPI IE; therefore, we cannot ascertain an exact incidence and prevalence.

#### CONCLUSION

This systematic review of reported adult HPI IE cases spanning the last two decades highlights the subacute course of HPI IE, its preference for the mitral valve, and favorable prognosis compared to IE caused by the other HACEK organisms, Staphylococcus, and Streptococcus. Clinicians should be attentive to its indolent course and the presence of predisposing risk factors in order to allow for timely management.

#### ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

#### Research background

Existing data indicate that the incidence of infective endocarditis (IE) continues to rise steadily. Although components of the skin flora including Staphylococcus spp., Streptococcus spp., and Enterococcus spp. are the most implicated organisms particularly in virulent IE, the oropharyngeal flora including the HACEK group of are a significant cause of IE.

#### Research motivation

An interesting presentation of Haemophilus parainfluenza (HPI) IE in a 25-year-old man with no significant past medical history and no predisposing risk factor for IE was the basis for this systematic review. It aimed to determine if there have been temporal changes in the presentation and prognosis of IE caused by HPI over the past two decades.

#### Research objectives

To characterize the risk factors, signs and symptoms, echocardiographic findings and the prognosis of IE caused HPI.

#### **Research methods**

A search of Medline, Pubmed, Scopus and Embase was conducted to identify the cases of HPI IE



published in 2000-2022. A systematic review of these cases was performed to analyze the trends in the presentation and prognosis of HPI IE.

#### Research results

This systematic review of 39 HPI IE cases in the English literature highlights the slight male predominance of the disease, the nonspecific presentation with constitutional symptoms, the predilection for the mitral valve, a high rate of central nervous system embolic events and a lower mortality rate compared to IE caused by microbes of the skin flora.

#### Research conclusions

HPI IE is an indolent disease that requires a high index of suspicion to diagnose and is associated with a favorable prognosis with timely intervention.

#### Research perspectives

We have illustrated a case and conducted a two-decade systematic review of the HPI IE cases published in the English language literature. In doing so, we have highlighted its indolent course, presentation and prognosis. We have also compared our findings with those of a review of HPI IE cases between 1984 and 1995; in doing so, we have enumerated some temporal changes in this disease entity. These include a younger mean age of presentation, identical rate of infection between males and females, improvement in diagnosis, a higher rate of embolic events and an increasing association with intravenous drug use.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Olagunju A and Mookadam F designed the research; Olagunju A, Kenny D, Martinez J, Gideon P, and Unzek S performed the research; Olagunju A, Kenny D and Mookadam F analyzed the data; Olagunju A, Kenny D, Martinez J and Mookadam F wrote the paper.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Abdulbaril Olagunju 0000-0001-9255-602X.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Kerr C P-Editor: Liu JH

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Baddour LM, Wilson WR, Bayer AS, Fowler VG Jr, Tleyjeh IM, Rybak MJ, Barsic B, Lockhart PB, Gewitz MH, Levison ME, Bolger AF, Steckelberg JM, Baltimore RS, Fink AM, O'Gara P, Taubert KA; American Heart Association Committee on Rheumatic Fever, Endocarditis, and Kawasaki Disease of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, Council on Clinical Cardiology, Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia, and Stroke Council. Infective Endocarditis in Adults: Diagnosis, Antimicrobial Therapy, and Management of Complications: A Scientific Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2015; 132: 1435-1486 [PMID: 26373316 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000296
- 2 Ambrosioni J, Hernandez-Meneses M, Téllez A, Pericàs J, Falces C, Tolosana JM, Vidal B, Almela M, Quintana E, Llopis J, Moreno A, Miro JM; Hospital Clinic Infective Endocarditis Investigators. The Changing Epidemiology of Infective Endocarditis in the Twenty-First Century. Curr Infect Dis Rep 2017; 19: 21 [PMID: 28401448 DOI: 10.1007/s11908-017-0574-9]
- 3 Rajani R, Klein JL. Infective endocarditis: A contemporary update. Clin Med (Lond) 2020; 20: 31-35 [PMID: 31941729 DOI: 10.7861/clinmed.cme.20.1.1]
- Ambrosioni J, Martinez-Garcia C, Llopis J, Garcia-de-la-Maria C, Hernández-Meneses M, Tellez A, Falces C, Almela M,



Vidal B, Sandoval E, Fuster D, Quintana E, Tolosana JM, Marco F, Moreno A, Miró JM; Hospital Clinic Infective Endocarditis Investigators. HACEK infective endocarditis: Epidemiology, clinical features, and outcome: A case-control study. Int J Infect Dis 2018; 76: 120-125 [PMID: 30153485 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2018.08.013]

- 5 Chambers ST, Murdoch D, Morris A, Holland D, Pappas P, Almela M, Fernández-Hidalgo N, Almirante B, Bouza E, Forno D, del Rio A, Hannan MM, Harkness J, Kanafani ZA, Lalani T, Lang S, Raymond N, Read K, Vinogradova T, Woods CW, Wray D, Corey GR, Chu VH; International Collaboration on Endocarditis Prospective Cohort Study Investigators. HACEK infective endocarditis: characteristics and outcomes from a large, multi-national cohort. PLoS One 2013; 8: e63181 [PMID: 23690995 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0063181]
- 6 Bläckberg A, Morenius C, Olaison L, Berge A, Rasmussen M. Infective endocarditis caused by HACEK group bacteria-a registry-based comparative study. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2021; 40: 1919-1924 [PMID: 33852103 DOI: 10.1007/s10096-021-04240-3
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, Clarke M, Devereaux PJ, Kleijnen J, Moher D. 7 The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. BMJ 2009; 339: b2700 [PMID: 19622552 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b2700]
- Nwaohiri N, Urban C, Gluck J, Ahluwalia M, Wehbeh W. Tricuspid valve endocarditis caused by Haemophilus parainfluenzae: a case report and review of the literature. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2009; 64: 216-219 [PMID: 19376668 DOI: 10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2009.02.015]
- 9 Ho HH, Cheung CW, Yeung CK. Septic peripheral embolization from Haemophilus parainfluenzae endocarditis. Eur Heart J 2006; 27: 1009 [PMID: 16632678 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi544]
- Bath AS, Zoltowska DM, Agrawal Y, Gupta V. Rare cause of subarachnoid haemorrhage. BMJ Case Rep 2019; 12 [PMID: 10 30804162 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2018-229093]
- Koshkelashvili N, Shah M, Codolosa JN, Climaco A. Polymicrobial infective endocarditis caused by Neisseria sicca and 11 Haemophilus parainfluenzae. IDCases 2016; 4: 3-5 [PMID: 27051571 DOI: 10.1016/j.idcr.2015.11.002]
- Todoran TM, Sobieszczyk PS, Levy MS, Perry TE, Shook DC, Kinlay S, Davidson MJ, Eisenhauer AC. Percutaneous 12 extraction of right atrial mass using the Angiovac aspiration system. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2011; 22: 1345-1347 [PMID: 21856509 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2011.04.004]
- 13 Pai RK, Pergam SA, Kedia A, Cadman CS, Osborn LA. Pacemaker lead infection secondary to Haemophilus parainfluenzae. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2004; 27: 1008-1010 [PMID: 15271026 DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-8159.2004.00575.x]
- Menegueti MG, Machado-Viana J, Gaspar GG, Nicolini EA, Basile-Filho A, Auxiliadora-Martins M. Ischemic Stroke and 14 Septic Shock After Subacute Endocarditis Caused by Haemophilus parainfluenzae: Case Report. J Clin Med Res 2017; 9: 71-73 [PMID: 27924179 DOI: 10.14740/jocmr2703w]
- Bae JY, Murugiah K, McLeod GX, Anwer M, Howes CJ. Haemophilus Parainfluenzae mural endocarditis with large atrial septal defect and peripheral embolization. J Cardiol Cases 2022; 25: 149-152 [PMID: 35261698 DOI: 10.1016/i.jccase.2021.08.002
- Gagliardi R, Sensi C, Flaminio G, De Canale E, Vettor R, De Carlo E. Haemophilus parainfluenzae endocarditis in a low-16 risk woman: a case report. Clin Case Rep 2021; 9: e05066 [PMID: 34868585 DOI: 10.1002/ccr3.5066]
- Gabaldón-Pérez A, De la Espriella R, Merenciano-Gonzalez H, Santas E, Chorro FJ. Native mitral valve endocarditis 17 complicated with abscess and fistulas: Diagnosis by three-dimensional transesophageal echocardiography. Rev Port Cardiol (Engl Ed) 2021; 40: 803-804 [PMID: 34857121 DOI: 10.1016/j.repce.2021.10.013]
- Finch LC, Gerdzhikov S, Buttery R. Haemophilus parainfluenzae endocarditis presenting with symptoms of COVID-19. 18 BMJ Case Rep 2021; 14 [PMID: 34433540 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2021-245210]
- Cannon JW, Hayanga JWA, Drvar TB, Ellison M, Cook C, Salman M, Roberts H, Badhwar V, Hayanga HK. A 34-Year-19 Old Male Intravenous Drug User with a Third Episode of Tricuspid Valve Endocarditis Treated with Repeat Valve Surgery. Am J Case Rep 2021; 22: e927385 [PMID: 33776054 DOI: 10.12659/AJCR.927385]
- 20 Bridwell RE, Cibrario A, Long B, Cho AM. Multisystem organ failure secondary to Haemophilus parainfluenzae infective endocarditis on an ICD lead: A case report. Am J Emerg Med 2019; 37: 1602.e1-1602.e3 [PMID: 31109781 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2019.05.016]
- 21 De Castro A, Abu-Hishmeh M, El Husseini I, Paul L. Haemophilus parainfluenzae endocarditis with multiple cerebral emboli in a pregnant woman with coronavirus. IDCases 2019; 18: e00593 [PMID: 31388489 DOI: 10.1016/j.ider.2019.e00593
- Costescu Strachinaru DI, Chaumont M, Gobin D, Sattar L, Strachinaru M, Karakike E, Roman A, Konopnicki D. 22 Hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis associated to Haemophilus parainfluenzae endocarditis- a case report. Acta Clin Belg 2018; 73: 220-223 [PMID: 28629255 DOI: 10.1080/17843286.2017.1341691]
- McCann N, Barakat MF, Schafer F. An aggressive form of Haemophilus parainfluenzae infective endocarditis presenting 23 with limb weakness. BMJ Case Rep 2018; 2018 [PMID: 29866672 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2017-223775]
- Litmathe J, Fussen R, Heinzel A, Müller M, Sucker C, Tewarie L, Dafotakis M. An unusual agent for an unusual 24 localization of infective endocarditis. Perfusion 2017; 32: 691-694 [PMID: 28578609 DOI: 10.1177/0267659117712406]
- Duzenli AE, Dwyer J, Carey J. Haemophilus parainfluenzae Endocarditis Associated With Maxillary Sinusitis and 25 Complicated by Cerebral Emboli in a Young Man. J Investig Med High Impact Case Rep 2017; 5: 2324709617704003 [PMID: 28491883 DOI: 10.1177/2324709617704003]
- 26 Faure E, Cannesson O, Schurtz G, Coisne A, Vincentelli A, Faure K, Guery B. Haemophilus parainfluenzae endocarditis in young adults. Med Mal Infect 2017; 47: 58-60 [PMID: 27765477 DOI: 10.1016/j.medmal.2016.05.007]
- 27 Maruyama R, Yamada A, Sugiyama T, Ujihira K, Nishioka N, Iba Y, Hatta E, Kurimoto Y, Asaoka K, Nakanishi K, Sakai K. Mitral valve repair for endocarditis can be performed 3 days after repair of a bleeding mycotic brain aneurysm. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2016; 151: e59-e61 [PMID: 26616464 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.10.026]
- Yong MS, Saxena P, Killu AM, Coffey S, Burkhart HM, Wan SH, Malouf JF. The Preoperative Evaluation of Infective Endocarditis via 3-Dimensional Transesophageal Echocardiography. Tex Heart Inst J 2015; 42: 372-376 [PMID: 26413022 DOI: 10.14503/THIJ-14-4375]



- Cunha BA, Brahmbhatt K, Raza M. Haemophilus parainfluenzae aortic prosthetic valve endocarditis (PVE) successfully 29 treated with oral levofloxacin. Heart Lung 2015; 44: 317-320 [PMID: 25998992 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrtlng.2015.04.006]
- 30 Mehrzad R, Sublette M, Barza M. Polymicrobial endocarditis in intravenous heroin and fentanyl abuse. J Clin Diagn Res 2013; 7: 2981-2985 [PMID: 24551699 DOI: 10.7860/JCDR/2013/7303.3817]
- 31 Liang JJ, Swiecicki PL, Killu AM, Sohail MR. Haemophilus parainfluenzae prosthetic valve endocarditis complicated by septic emboli to brain. BMJ Case Rep 2013; 2013 [PMID: 23737586 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2013-009744]
- Saby L, Le Dolley Y, Laas O, Tessonnier L, Cammilleri S, Casalta JP, Raoult D, Habib G, Thuny F. Early diagnosis of 32 abscess in aortic bioprosthetic valve by 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography-computed tomography. Circulation 2012; 126: e217-e220 [PMID: 23027814 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.102301]
- 33 Wang'ondu RW, Murray TS. Relapse of polymicrobial endocarditis in an intravenous drug user. Yale J Biol Med 2011; 84: 321-324 [PMID: 21966051]
- Miquel-Goulenok T, Le Tohic A, Laurichesse JJ, Jung B, Leport C, Longuet P. Haemophilus parainfluenzae infective 34 endocarditis associated with pelvic abscess: an uncommon complication of endometriosis. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol 2010; 37: 324-325 [PMID: 21355469]
- 35 Christou L, Economou G, Zikou AK, Saplaoura K, Argyropoulou MI, Tsianos EV. Acute Haemophilus parainfluenzae endocarditis: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2009; 3: 7494 [PMID: 19830211 DOI: 10.4076/1752-1947-3-7494]
- Wijesinghe N, Mills G, Lin Z, Waymouth S, Sebastian C, McAlister H. A case of Haemophilus Parainfluenzae 36 endocarditis during pregnancy. Scott Med J 2008; 53: 65 [DOI: 10.1258/rsmsmj.53.2.65c]
- Choi D, Thermidor M, Cunha BA. Haemophilus parainfluenzae mitral prosthetic valve endocarditis in an intravenous drug 37 abuser. Heart Lung 2005; 34: 152-154 [PMID: 15761462 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrtlng.2004.07.005]
- 38 Friedel JM, Stehlik J, Desai M, Granato JE. Infective endocarditis after oral body piercing. Cardiol Rev 2003; 11: 252-255 [PMID: 12943601 DOI: 10.1097/01.crd.0000086227.46088.fd]
- 39 Kelesidis T, Kelesidis I, Lewinski MA, Humphries R. Establishing diagnosis of Haemophilus parainfluenzae as etiology of culture-negative endocarditis using DNA sequence analysis on tissue specimen. Am J Med 2011; 124: e9-e10 [PMID: 21683823 DOI: 10.1016/j.amimed.2011.02.026]
- 40 Redmond AM, Meiklejohn C, Kidd TJ, Horvath R, Coulter C. Endocarditis after use of tongue scraper. Emerg Infect Dis 2007; 13: 1440-1441 [PMID: 18252139 DOI: 10.3201/eid1309.070544]
- 41 Barreto Cortes M, Teixeira V, Fernandes SR, Rego F. Haemophilus parainfluenzae endocarditis with systemic embolisation following maxillary sinusitis. BMJ Case Rep 2016; 2016 [PMID: 27599807 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2016-216473]
- 42 Alp E, Yildiz O, Aygen B, Sumerkan B. Haemophilus parainfluenzae endocarditis. Turk J Med Sci 2003; 33: 397-400 [DOI: 10.3349/ymj.2007.48.3.433]
- 43 Giurgea LT, Lahey T. Haemophilus parainfluenzae Mural Endocarditis: Case Report and Review of the Literature. Case *Rep Infect Dis* 2016; **2016**: 3639517 [PMID: 27382494 DOI: 10.1155/2016/3639517]
- 44 Fazili T, James O, Wani L. A sixty-five-year-old female with pneumonia, endocarditis and meningitis. J Okla State Med Assoc 2009; 102: 269-270 [PMID: 19750817]
- 45 Nguyen S, Fayad G, Modine T, Leroy O. Mitral acute bacterial endocarditis caused by HACEK microorganisms. J Heart Valve Dis 2009; 18: 353-354 [PMID: 19557999]
- 46 Kiss G, Braunberger E. Emergency Valve Replacement Under Minimal Cardiopulmonary Bypass for a Patient With Infective Endocarditis and Large Brain Hematoma: A Case Report. A A Pract 2018; 10: 144-147 [PMID: 29095710 DOI: 10.1213/XAA.00000000000665]
- 47 González-Díaz A, Tubau F, Pinto M, Sierra Y, Cubero M, Càmara J, Ayats J, Bajanca-Lavado P, Ardanuy C, Marti S. Identification of polysaccharide capsules among extensively drug-resistant genitourinary Haemophilus parainfluenzae isolates. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 4481 [PMID: 30872664 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-40812-2]
- Sierra Y, González-Díaz A, Tubau F, Imaz A, Cubero M, Càmara J, Ayats J, Martí S, Ardanuy C. Emergence of multidrug 48 resistance among Haemophilus parainfluenzae from respiratory and urogenital samples in Barcelona, Spain. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2020; 39: 703-710 [PMID: 31828685 DOI: 10.1007/s10096-019-03774-x]
- 49 García-Cobos S, Arroyo M, Campos J, Pérez-Vázquez M, Aracil B, Cercenado E, Orden B, Lara N, Oteo J. Novel mechanisms of resistance to β-lactam antibiotics in Haemophilus parainfluenzae: β-lactamase-negative ampicillin resistance and inhibitor-resistant TEM β-lactamases. J Antimicrob Chemother 2013; 68: 1054-1059 [PMID: 23335113 DOI: 10.1093/jac/dks525]
- Soriano F, Granizo JJ, Coronel P, Gimeno M, Ródenas E, Gracia M, García C, Fernández-Roblas R, Esteban J, Gadea I. Antimicrobial susceptibility of Haemophilus influenzae, Haemophilus parainfluenzae and Moraxella catarrhalis isolated from adult patients with respiratory tract infections in four southern European countries. The ARISE project. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2004; 23: 296-299 [PMID: 15164972 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2003.07.018]
- 51 Mayo JB, McCarthy LR. Antimicrobial susceptibility of Haemophilus parainfluenzae. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1977; 11: 844-847 [PMID: 587028 DOI: 10.1128/AAC.11.5.844]
- 52 Oill PA, Chow AW, Guze LB. Adult bacteremic Haemophilus parainfluenzae infections. Seven reports of cases and a review of the literature. Arch Intern Med 1979; 139: 985-988 [PMID: 475536 DOI: 10.1001/archinte.139.9.985]
- 53 Thuny F, Di Salvo G, Belliard O, Avierinos JF, Pergola V, Rosenberg V, Casalta JP, Gouvernet J, Derumeaux G, Iarussi D, Ambrosi P, Calabró R, Riberi A, Collart F, Metras D, Lepidi H, Raoult D, Harle JR, Weiller PJ, Cohen A, Habib G. Risk of embolism and death in infective endocarditis: prognostic value of echocardiography: a prospective multicenter study. Circulation 2005; 112: 69-75 [PMID: 15983252 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.493155]
- 54 Joye R, Ceroni D, Beghetti M, Aggoun Y, Sologashvili T. Fulminant Infective Endocarditis Due to Kingella Kingae and Several Complications in a 6-Year-Old Girl: A Case Report. Front Pediatr 2021; 9: 707760 [PMID: 34291021 DOI: 10.3389/fped.2021.707760
- Chamat-Hedemand S, Dahl A, Oestergaard L, Arpi M, Fosboel E, Boel J, Kaur K, Lauridsen T, Gislason G, Torp-55 Pedersen C, Bruun N. Independent risk factors of mortality in streptococcal infective endocarditis. Eur Heart J 2021; 42: (Supplement\_1). [DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab724.1713]



- 56 Paturel L, Casalta JP, Habib G, Nezri M, Raoult D. Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans endocarditis. Clin Microbiol Infect 2004; 10: 98-118 [PMID: 14759235 DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2004.00794.x]
- Steinberg J, Burd E. Other Gram-Negative and Gram-Variable Bacilli. Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's Principles and 57 Practice of Infectious Diseases. J Steinberg E Burd 2015; 2667-2683.e4 [DOI: 10.1016/b978-1-4557-4801-3.00238-1]
- 58 Darras-Joly C, Lortholary O, Mainardi JL, Etienne J, Guillevin L, Acar J. Haemophilus endocarditis: report of 42 cases in adults and review. Haemophilus Endocarditis Study Group. Clin Infect Dis 1997; 24: 1087-1094 [PMID: 9195062 DOI: 10.1086/513624]



WJC World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2022 October 26; 14(10): 557-560

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.557

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

# Is Takotsubo cardiomyopathy still looking for its own nosological identity?

Riccardo Scagliola, Gian Marco Rosa

**Specialty type:** Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

**Provenance and peer review:** Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

**P-Reviewer:** Mishra AK, United States; Scudeler TL, Brazil

Received: May 7, 2022 Peer-review started: May 7, 2022 First decision: May 31, 2022 Revised: May 31, 2022 Accepted: October 5, 2022 Article in press: October 5, 2022 Published online: October 26, 2022



Riccardo Scagliola, Gian Marco Rosa, Cardiovascular Disease Unit, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genoa 16132, Italy

**Corresponding author:** Riccardo Scagliola, MD, Doctor, Cardiovascular Disease Unit, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Largo R. Benzi n. 10, Genoa 16132, Italy. risca88@live.it

#### Abstract

Despite several efforts to provide a proper nosological framework for Takotsubo cardiomyopathy (TCM), this remains an unresolved matter in clinical practice. Several clinical, pathophysiologic and histologic findings support the conceivable hypothesis that TCM could be defined as a unique pathologic entity, rather than a distinct subset of myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries. Further investigations are needed in order to define TCM with the most appropriate disease taxonomy.

**Key Words:** Takotsubo cardiomyopathy; Myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries; Disease classification

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Despite several efforts to provide a proper nosological framework for Takotsubo cardiomyopathy (TCM), this remains an unresolved matter in clinical practice. Several clinical, pathophysiologic and histologic findings support the conceivable hypothesis that TCM could be defined as a unique pathologic entity, rather than a distinct subset of myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries. These issues need to be confirmed by further investigations, in order to define TCM with the most appropriate disease taxonomy.

Citation: Scagliola R, Rosa GM. Is Takotsubo cardiomyopathy still looking for its own nosological identity? *World J Cardiol* 2022; 14(10): 557-560 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i10/557.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.557

Raisbideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### TO THE EDITOR

Despite several efforts to provide a proper nosological framework for Takotsubo cardiomyopathy (TCM), this remains an unresolved matter in clinical practice. Current revised Mayo Clinic diagnostic criteria for TCM include: (1) The presence of transient left ventricular wall motion abnormalities (either hypokinesis, akinesis or dyskinesis) with or without apical involvement; (2) usually extending beyond a single epicardial vascular distribution; (3) in the absence of obstructive coronary artery disease on coronary angiography; (4) associated with new electrocardiographic abnormalities or modest troponin increment; and (5) in the absence of pheochromocytoma or myocarditis<sup>[1]</sup>. Subsequently, the International Takotsubo Diagnostic Criteria (interTAK Diagnostic Criteria) provided the following additional criteria in order to improve the identification of TCM: (1) Cases with wall motion abnormalities related to the distribution of a single epicardial coronary artery should not be considered an exclusion criteria of TCM; (2) pheochromocytoma, as well as neurologic disorders (*i.e.* subarachnoid hemorrhage, ischemic stroke or transient ischemic attack) are recognized as secondary causes of TCM, and (3) the presence of coronary artery disease does not represent an exclusion criterion of TCM[2]. This latter additional finding and the contextual detection of obstructive epicardial coronary lesions make the distinction between acute coronary syndrome and TCM more challenging in clinical practice[3]. In this regard, whether TCM should be classified as a distinct subset of myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries (MINOCA) is still controversial. In a comprehensive review by Vidal-Perez *et al*[3], TCM was included within the wide nosological spectrum of MINOCA. However, emerging clinical and pathophysiologic findings in the literature have progressively raised doubts concerning this current taxonomy. In a retrospective analysis conducted by Lopez-Pais et al[4] on a large multicenter registry, patients with TCM showed a different clinical profile compared to those belonging to the other subsets of MINOCA. Specifically, TCM was more frequently detected as an intercurrent complication during hospitalization for other causes, and was characterized by a much more aggressive acute phase and by a better long-term prognostic outcome, compared to patients affected by the other forms of MINOCA. Additionally, when present, some electrocardiographic findings can also help to distinguish between TCM and the other subsets of MINOCA. In particular, the absence of Q waves or reciprocal changes of ventricular repolarization, a ratio between ST-segment elevation in leads  $V_4$ - $V_6$  and  $V_1$ - $V_3 > 1$  and the presence of ST-segment depression in lead aVR in the absence of ST-segment elevation in lead  $V_1$  have been reported to detect TCM with a high predictive accuracy[5,6]. Furthermore, different pathophysiological processes have been shown to be involved in developing reversible wall motion abnormalities which characterize TCM, compared to the rest of MINOCA subsets (Table 1). Although microvascular dysfunction has been hypothesized to be involved in the pathogenic mechanisms of TCM, it seems to represent a mere epiphenomenon compared to the catecholaminergic surge related to sympathetic hyperactivity, which is mediated by both the central and autonomic nervous system in response to psychophysical or environmental stressors[7]. Specifically, direct catecholamine toxicity and the effects of norepinephrine spillover from the cardiac sympathetic nerve terminals, have been shown to be the greatest responsible mechanisms of wall motion abnormalities detected in TCM, as demonstrated by the congruent distribution of cardiac nervous terminals to the affected segments of the myocardial wall<sup>[8]</sup>. This is reflected in a typical histopathological pattern called myocytolysis, which is characterized by areas of early myofibrillar damage, hypercontracted sarcomeres and a mononuclear inflammatory response. These histological features are distinct from those noted in the rest of patients with MINOCA (which were instead characterized by atonic myocytes, with no myofibrillar damage and polymorphonuclear infiltrates), and were not primarily induced by vasoconstriction, but by a direct effect of catecholamines on cardiac  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors (like other conditions related to the catecholamine surge, as in the case of pheochromocytoma or subarachnoid hemorrhage)[9,10]. As reported by Santoro and coworkers, histologic findings confirm how TCM and acute coronary syndromes are sustained by two different inflammatory patterns. In particular, high levels of antiinflammatory interleukins detected in TCM (particularly IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ ) have been shown to be related to the presence of M2 macrophages surrounding the impaired myocardial tissue, and to their capability in removing damaged cells and preserving healthy tissue, thus favoring a complete functional recovery in this subset population[11]. Finally, the presence of transient and reversible transmural myocardial edema involving the dysfunctional wall segments on T2-weighted imaging, in the absence of late gadolinium enhancement, represents a pathognomonic hallmark provided by cardiac magnetic resonance in TCM patients, compared to the rest of MINOCA subjects<sup>[12]</sup>. In conclusion, several clinical, pathophysiologic and histologic findings support the conceivable hypothesis that TCM could be defined as a unique pathologic entity, rather than a distinct subset of MINOCA. These issues need to be confirmed by further investigations, in order to define TCM with the most appropriate disease taxonomy.



#### Table 1 Characterizing the differences between Takotsubo cardiomyopathy and myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries

	Takotsubo cardiomyopathy	MINOCA
Clinical findings	A more aggressive acute phase despite a better long-term cardiovascular prognosis	A less aggressive acute phase despite a worse long-term cardiovascular prognosis
Main pathophysiologic mechanisms	Sympathetic hyperactivity and a direct effect of catecholamines on $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors of cardiomyocytes	Coronary plaque disruption; Coronary vasospasm; Spontaneous coronary artery dissection; Microvascular dysfunction; Coronary thromboembolism
Histopathologic lesions	Areas of myofibrillar damage with hypercontracted sarcomeres and mononuclear infiltrates	Absence of myofibrillar damage with atonic sarcomeres and polymorphonuclear infiltrates
Location of myocardial lesions	Around intracardiac nervous terminals	Around cardiac vessels
Inflammatory patterns	Increased levels of anti-inflammatory interleukins, able to remove damaged cells and preserve healthy myocardial tissue	Increased levels of pro-inflammatory interleukins, able to promote coronary plaque disruption and microvascular impairment
CMR findings	Transient and reversible transmural myocardial edema on T2-weighted imaging in the absence of late gadolinium enhancement	Late gadolinium enhancement (either subendocardial or transmural) with or without myocardial edema on T2-weighted imaging

CMR: Cardiac magnetic resonance; MINOCA: Myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Scagliola R and Rosa GM contributed to the conception and design of the manuscript; Scagliola R drafted the manuscript; all authors contributed equally to the critical revision, editing and approval of the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Riccardo Scagliola 0000-0002-5439-3300; Gian Marco Rosa 0000-0003-0809-2301.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Webster JR P-Editor: Liu JH

#### REFERENCES

- Agewall S, Beltrame JF, Reynolds HR, Niessner A, Rosano G, Caforio AL, De Caterina R, Zimarino M, Roffi M, Kjeldsen 1 K, Atar D, Kaski JC, Sechtem U, Tornvall P; WG on Cardiovascular Pharmacotherapy. ESC working group position paper on myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries. Eur Heart J 2017; 38: 143-153 [PMID: 28158518 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw149
- Ghadri JR, Wittstein IS, Prasad A, Sharkey S, Dote K, Akashi YJ, Cammann VL, Crea F, Galiuto L, Desmet W, Yoshida 2 T, Manfredini R, Eitel I, Kosuge M, Nef HM, Deshmukh A, Lerman A, Bossone E, Citro R, Ueyama T, Corrado D, Kurisu S, Ruschitzka F, Winchester D, Lyon AR, Omerovic E, Bax JJ, Meimoun P, Tarantini G, Rihal C, Y-Hassan S, Migliore F, Horowitz JD, Shimokawa H, Lüscher TF, Templin C. International Expert Consensus Document on Takotsubo Syndrome (Part I): Clinical Characteristics, Diagnostic Criteria, and Pathophysiology. Eur Heart J 2018; 39: 2032-2046 [PMID: 29850871 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv076]
- 3 Vidal-Perez R, Abou Jokh Casas C, Agra-Bermejo RM, Alvarez-Alvarez B, Grapsa J, Fontes-Carvalho R, Rigueiro Veloso P, Garcia Acuña JM, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR. Myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries: A comprehensive review and future research directions. World J Cardiol 2019; 11: 305-315 [PMID: 31908730 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v11.i12.305
- 4 Lopez-Pais J, Izquierdo Coronel B, Raposeiras-Roubín S, Álvarez Rodriguez L, Vedia O, Almendro-Delia M, Sionis A, Martin-Garcia AC, Uribarri A, Blanco E, Martín de Miguel I, Abu-Assi E, Galán Gil D, Sestayo Fernández M, Espinosa Pascual MJ, Agra-Bermejo RM, López Otero D, García Acuña JM, Alonso Martín JJ, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Perez de Juan



Romero MÁ, Núñez-Gil IJ. Differences Between Takotsubo and the Working Diagnosis of Myocardial Infarction With Nonobstructive Coronary Arteries. Front Cardiovasc Med 2022; 9: 742010 [PMID: 35360039 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.742010]

- 5 Ogura R, Hiasa Y, Takahashi T, Yamaguchi K, Fujiwara K, Ohara Y, Nada T, Ogata T, Kusunoki K, Yuba K, Hosokawa S, Kishi K, Ohtani R. Specific findings of the standard 12-lead ECG in patients with 'Takotsubo' cardiomyopathy: comparison with the findings of acute anterior myocardial infarction. Circ J 2003; 67: 687-690 [PMID: 12890911 DOI: 10.1253/circj.67.687]
- 6 Kosuge M, Ebina T, Hibi K, Morita S, Okuda J, Iwahashi N, Tsukahara K, Nakachi T, Kiyokuni M, Ishikawa T, Umemura S, Kimura K. Simple and accurate electrocardiographic criteria to differentiate takotsubo cardiomyopathy from anterior acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 55: 2514-2516 [PMID: 20510222 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.12.059]
- Pelliccia F, Kaski JC, Crea F, Camici PG. Pathophysiology of Takotsubo Syndrome. Circulation 2017; 135: 2426-2441 7 [PMID: 28606950 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.027121]
- Marafioti V, Turri G, Monaco S. Important distinction between acute coronary syndromes and Takotsubo syndrome. Nat Rev Cardiol 2020; 17: 258 [PMID: 31996799 DOI: 10.1038/s41569-020-0342-7]
- 9 Nef HM, Möllmann H, Kostin S, Troidl C, Voss S, Weber M, Dill T, Rolf A, Brandt R, Hamm CW, Elsässer A. Tako-Tsubo cardiomyopathy: intraindividual structural analysis in the acute phase and after functional recovery. Eur Heart J 2007; 28: 2456-2464 [PMID: 17395683 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/eh1570]
- Turillazzi E, Baroldi G, Silver MD, Parolini M, Pomara C, Fineschi V. A systematic study of a myocardial lesion: 10 colliquative myocytolysis. Int J Cardiol 2005; 104: 152-157 [PMID: 16168807 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2004.10.051]
- Santoro F, Costantino MD, Guastafierro F, Triggiani G, Ferraretti A, Tarantino N, Saguner A, Di Biase M, Brunetti ND. 11 Inflammatory patterns in Takotsubo cardiomyopathy and acute coronary syndrome: A propensity score matched analysis. Atherosclerosis 2018; 274: 157-161 [PMID: 29783063 DOI: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2018.05.017]
- 12 Liang K, Nakou E, Del Buono MG, Montone RA, D'Amario D, Bucciarelli-Ducci C. The Role of Cardiac Magnetic Resonance in Myocardial Infarction and Non-obstructive Coronary Arteries. Front Cardiovasc Med 2021; 8: 821067 [PMID: 35111833 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.821067]



WJC

# World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2022 October 26; 14(10): 561-564

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.561

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

# Euglycemic diabetic ketoacidosis: A rare but serious side effect of sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors

Nenad Lakušić, Ivana Sopek Merkaš, Ana Marija Slišković, Dora Cerovec

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: MP B, India; Papazafiropoulou A, Greece

Received: July 10, 2022 Peer-review started: July 10, 2022 First decision: August 22, 2022 Revised: August 29, 2022 Accepted: September 21, 2022 Article in press: September 21, 2022 Published online: October 26, 2022



Nenad Lakušić, Ivana Sopek Merkaš, Dora Cerovec, Department of Cardiology, Special Hospital for Medical Rehabilitation Krapinske Toplice, Krapinske Toplice 49217, Croatia

Nenad Lakušić, Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Dental Medicine and Health Osijek, Osijek 31000, Croatia

Nenad Lakušić, Department of Internal Medicine, Family Medicine and History of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine Osijek, Osijek 31000, Croatia

Ana Marija Slišković, Department of Cardiology, University Hospital Centre Zagreb, Zagreb 10000, Croatia

Corresponding author: Ivana Sopek Merkaš, MD, Doctor, Department of Cardiology, Special Hospital for Medical Rehabilitation Krapinske Toplice, 2 Gajeva, Krapinske Toplice 49217, Croatia. ivana.sopek@sbkt.hr

#### Abstract

Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors are an insulin-independent class of oral antihyperglycemic medication and from recently established therapy in chronic heart failure patients. A rare, but potentially life-threatening complication of SGLT2 inhibitor use is euglycemic diabetic ketoacidosis. We described a case of a middle-aged male patient with type 2 diabetes who developed metabolic ketoacidosis after a few days of empagliflozin administration. SGLT2 inhibitor related ketoacidosis presents with euglycemia or only modestly elevated glucose blood concentrations, which causes delayed detection and treatment of ketoacidosis. There are multiple possible risk factors and mechanism that might contribute to the pathogenesis of ketoacidosis. It is implied that SGLT2 inhibitor use and prescription by non-diabetologists (cardiologists, nephrologists, family physicians, etc.) will continue to grow in the future. It is important to inform the general cardiac public about this rare but serious side effect of SGLT2 inhibitors.

Key Words: Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors; Euglycemic diabetic ketoacidosis; Chronic heart failure

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors have recently become an established treatment for most chronic heart failure (CHF) patients (with and without diabetes), and it is important for the cardiologist to know their side effects, including those that are rare, but serious, like euglycemic ketoacidosis. In this way, an unwanted outcome of CHF treatment can be avoided.

Citation: Lakušić N, Sopek Merkaš I, Slišković AM, Cerovec D. Euglycemic diabetic ketoacidosis: A rare but serious side effect of sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors. World J Cardiol 2022; 14(10): 561-564 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i10/561.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i10.561

#### TO THE EDITOR

Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors are an insulin-independent class of oral antihyperglycemic medication which decrease the reabsorption of glucose in the renal tubules, causing urinary glucose excretion and thereby modestly lowering elevated blood glucose levels in patients with type 2 diabetes. The SGLT2 receptors are expressed in the proximal tubule of the kidney and mediate reabsorption of 90% of the filtered glucose load. By their mechanism of action, SLGT2 inhibitors also modestly decrease blood pressure (osmotic diuresis) and weight (reduction in adipose tissue as well as calorie loss through glycosuria)[1].

According to the latest European Society of Cardiology guidelines on chronic heart failure (CHF)[2], SGLT2 inhibitors (empagliflozin, dapagliflozin) are equally used along with other established therapy for CHF. They can be used in patients with reduced, but also preserved (empagliflozin) ejection fraction of left ventricle, with or without diabetes[3]. The SGLT2 inhibitors achieve beneficial effects by lowering blood pressure, stimulation of natriuresis and diuresis, neurohormonal effect, improvement of cardiac energy metabolism, reduction in inflammation, etc. [4]. SGLT2 inhibitors improve cardiovascular outcomes and have a similar effect as a group of drugs in preventing HF and chronic kidney disease progression (class effect), efficacy in secondary prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease events (empagliflozin and canagliflozin) and in preventing cardiovascular mortality (empagliflozin)[5].

Euglycemic diabetic ketoacidosis[6] is a known and rare complication of SGLT2 inhibitor use and can potentially lead to a life-threatening situation, especially if not recognized in time[7]. Shortly, we would like to describe a case of middle-aged male patient with type 2 diabetes, without CHF, who developed metabolic ketoacidosis after a few days of empagliflozin administration.

The patient is a 42-year-old male with a history of type 2 diabetes treated with metformin for three years, which he took very irregularly. One week before hospitalization, he was administered the combination of empagliflozin 12.5 mg/metformin 1000 mg twice daily. Two days after starting the medication he reported nausea and diarrhea, then vomiting with a feeling of fatigue and malaise. Diabetic ketoacidosis (ketonuria 8 mmol/L, arterial blood gas (ABG) analysis-pH 7.23, glucose 9.7 mmol/L) was diagnosed and the patient was urgently hospitalized. Parameters of renal function and serum kalium level were within referent range. Metabolic acidosis was successfully managed after two days of standard treatment (prompt fluid resuscitation with crystalloid solutions and monitoring of electrolyte and ketones, low-dose intravenous insulin) and omission of empagliflozin from further therapy. On the third day of treatment, the patient was discharged from the hospital with new recommended therapy-basal and fast-acting insulin and metformin.

Diabetic ketoacidosis is a complex metabolic disorder characterized by hyperglycemia, acidosis, and ketonuria, which usually develops in patients with diabetes when insulin levels are too low (absolute or relative insulin deficiency that is accompanied by an increase in counter-regulatory hormones, i.e., glucagon, cortisol, etc.). In the absence of insulin, lipolysis is stimulated instead of glycogenolysis for energy production, consequently increasing ketone levels followed by their accumulation in the blood leading to acidosis. Diabetic ketoacidosis most commonly occurs in patients with type 1 diabetes and is usually accompanied by high blood glucose levels[8]. Increased risk of ketoacidosis was described among SGLT2 patients and several mechanisms might contribute to the pathogenesis-SGLT2 inhibitors decrease glucose level by an insulin-independent mechanism, increase the rates of lipolysis in adipose tissue and ketogenesis in the liver (increasing circulating ketone body levels), increase plasma glucagon levels, increase preproglucagon gene expression by acting directly upon pancreatic α-cells, and also SGLT2 inhibitors could decrease renal clearance of ketone bodies (e.g., phlorizin-a nonselective inhibitor of SGLT1 and SGLT2, which increase renal tubular reabsorption of acetoacetate), etc[9]. Ketone body levels are elevated in patients receiving SGLT2 inhibitor treatment (and in patients with HF) so it is important to emphasize that failing myocardium in diabetic heart and in HF patients is unable to optimally use traditional substrates (free fatty acid, glucose) but can effectively use ketone bodies as an alternative for energy production. Changes that may include critical effects of SGLT2 inhibitors are those in shifting metabolism from fat/glucose oxidation to ketone bodies and thereby improving



myocardial and renal function[10].

The incidence of ketoacidosis in patients using SGLT2 inhibitors is about 2 per 1000 treated patients [11]. It is important to emphasize that SGLT2 inhibitor-associated ketoacidosis presents with euglycemia or only modestly elevated glucose blood concentrations, which causes delayed detection and treatment of ketoacidosis. Some of the risk factors for developing ketoacidosis in patients treated with SGLT2 inhibitors are prior diabetic ketoacidosis, hemoglobin A1C above 10%, recent hypoglycemia, low baseline serum bicarbonate levels, use of digoxin and medications for dementia[11] or concomitant therapy with pioglitazone<sup>[12]</sup>. Given that thiazolidinediones, including pioglitazone, can cause fluid retention, as such are contraindicated in patients with NYHA class III and IV heart failure, and are not recommended in patients with symptomatic heart failure<sup>[2]</sup>.

Patients with CHF are a complex group of patients with numerous comorbidities that require specific and differentiated treatment and close monitoring[13]. Since SGLT2 inhibitors have recently become an established treatment for most CHF patients with and without diabetes[2], and their use and prescription by non-diabetologists (cardiologists, nephrologists, and family physicians, etc.) will continue to grow in the future. Indeed, there are recommendations and suggestions that SGLT2 inhibitors and beta-blockers might be the first line of treatment for patients with CHF with reduced ejection fraction of left ventricle[14].

Therefore, the main purpose of this letter is to inform and warn the general cardiac public about this rare but serious side effect of SGLT2 inhibitors. In case of nausea, vomiting, or malaise in patients taking SGLT2 inhibitors, prompt response and diagnostic screening are necessary. Serum ketones and ABG analysis should be obtained in any patient presenting these symptoms, and SGLT2 inhibitors should be discontinued if acidosis is confirmed. In this way, serious side effects and an unwanted outcome of CHF treatment can be avoided.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Lakušić N, Sopek Merkaš I, Slišković AM were responsible for the conception and design of the manuscript, literature review, and they wrote the first original draft; Lakušić N and Cerovec D contributed in acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation, literature review, and making critical revisions related to the important intellectual content of the manuscript; all authors gave final approval for the final version of the article to be published.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** There are no conflicts of interest to report.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Croatia

ORCID number: Nenad Lakušić 0000-0002-2329-2582; Ivana Sopek Merkaš 0000-0002-0888-5005; Ana Marija Slišković 0000-0001-6622-7572; Dora Cerovec 0000-0002-9014-9866.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Clar C, Gill JA, Court R, Waugh N. Systematic review of SGLT2 receptor inhibitors in dual or triple therapy in type 2 diabetes. BMJ Open 2012; 2 [PMID: 23087012 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001007]
- 2 McDonagh TA, Metra M, Adamo M, Gardner RS, Baumbach A, Böhm M, Burri H, Butler J, Čelutkiene J, Chioncel O, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, Crespo-Leiro MG, Farmakis D, Gilard M, Heymans S, Hoes AW, Jaarsma T, Jankowska EA, Lainscak M, Lam CSP, Lyon AR, McMurray JJV, Mebazaa A, Mindham R, Muneretto C, Francesco Piepoli M, Price S, Rosano GMC, Ruschitzka F, Kathrine Skibelund A; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2021 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 2021; 42: 3599-3726 [PMID: 34447992 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab368]
- 3 Anker SD, Butler J, Filippatos G, Ferreira JP, Bocchi E, Böhm M, Brunner-La Rocca HP, Choi DJ, Chopra V, Chuquiure-Valenzuela E, Giannetti N, Gomez-Mesa JE, Janssens S, Januzzi JL, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Merkely B, Nicholls SJ, Perrone SV, Piña IL, Ponikowski P, Senni M, Sim D, Spinar J, Squire I, Taddei S, Tsutsui H, Verma S, Vinereanu D, Zhang J, Carson P, Lam CSP, Marx N, Zeller C, Sattar N, Jamal W, Schnaidt S, Schnee JM, Brueckmann M, Pocock SJ, Zannad F, Packer M; EMPEROR-Preserved Trial Investigators. Empagliflozin in Heart Failure with a Preserved Ejection



Fraction. N Engl J Med 2021; 385: 1451-1461 [PMID: 34449189 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2107038]

- 4 Lopaschuk GD, Verma S. Mechanisms of Cardiovascular Benefits of Sodium Glucose Co-Transporter 2 (SGLT2) Inhibitors: A State-of-the-Art Review. JACC Basic Transl Sci 2020; 5: 632-644 [PMID: 32613148 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacbts.2020.02.004]
- 5 Täger T, Atar D, Agewall S, Katus HA, Grundtvig M, Cleland JGF, Clark AL, Fröhlich H, Frankenstein L. Comparative efficacy of sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors (SGLT2i) for cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Heart Fail Rev 2021; 26: 1421-1435 [PMID: 32314085 DOI: 10.1007/s10741-020-09954-8]
- Razok A, Ata F, Ahmed SMI, Al Mohanadi DHSH. Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors induced euglycemic 6 diabetic ketoacidosis within four days of initiation. World J Diabetes 2022; 13: 272-274 [PMID: 35432760 DOI: 10.4239/wjd.v13.i3.272
- Liu J, Li L, Li S, Wang Y, Qin X, Deng K, Liu Y, Zou K, Sun X. Sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors and the risk 7 of diabetic ketoacidosis in patients with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Diabetes Obes Metab 2020; 22: 1619-1627 [PMID: 32364674 DOI: 10.1111/dom.14075]
- Gosmanov AR, Kitabchi AE. Diabetic Ketoacidosis. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, editors. Endotext. South 8 Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, 2000. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK279146/
- Taylor SI, Blau JE, Rother KI. SGLT2 Inhibitors May Predispose to Ketoacidosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015; 100: 9 2849-2852 [PMID: 26086329 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2015-1884]
- Mudaliar S, Alloju S, Henry RR. Can a Shift in Fuel Energetics Explain the Beneficial Cardiorenal Outcomes in the 10 EMPA-REG OUTCOME Study? Diabetes Care 2016; 39: 1115-1122 [PMID: 27289124 DOI: 10.2337/dc16-0542]
- Fralick M, Redelmeier DA, Patorno E, Franklin JM, Razak F, Gomes T, Schneeweiss S. Identifying Risk Factors for 11 Diabetic Ketoacidosis Associated with SGLT2 Inhibitors: a Nationwide Cohort Study in the USA. J Gen Intern Med 2021; **36**: 2601-2607 [PMID: 33564942 DOI: 10.1007/s11606-020-06561-z]
- 12 Lin CW, Hung SY, Chen IW. Relationship of concomitant anti-diabetic drug administration with sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor-related ketosis. J Int Med Res 2022; 50: 3000605221090095 [PMID: 35352579 DOI: 10.1177/03000605221090095
- 13 Sopek Merkaš I, Slišković AM, Lakušić N. Current concept in the diagnosis, treatment and rehabilitation of patients with congestive heart failure. World J Cardiol 2021; 13: 183-203 [PMID: 34367503 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v13.i7.183]
- McMurray JJV, Packer M. How Should We Sequence the Treatments for Heart Failure and a Reduced Ejection Fraction? 14 Circulation 2021; 143: 875-877 [PMID: 33378214 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.052926]





#### Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

